
 
 

 
Addenbrooke House   Ironmasters Way    Telford   TF3 4NT 

 

Continued… 

PLANNING COMMITTEE 

 

Date Wednesday, 20 October 2021 Time 6.00 pm 

Venue West Stand, AFC Telford United, Watling Street, Wellington, Telford TF1 2TU 

 

Enquiries Regarding this Agenda 

Democratic Services Jayne Clarke / Kieran Robinson 01952 383205 / 382061 

Media Enquiries Corporate Communications 01952 382406 

Lead Officer Valerie Hulme – Development Management 
Service Delivery Manager 

01952 384130 

 

Committee Membership: Councillors G H Cook, N A Dugmore, I T W Fletcher, J Jones, J Loveridge 
(Vice-Chair), R Mehta, K Middleton, P J Scott and C F Smith (Chair) 

  
Substitutes: Councillors V A Fletcher, E J Greenaway, J E Lavery, G L Offland, 

S J Reynolds, G C W Reynolds, K S Sahota, W L Tomlinson and 
D R W White 

 
Scan the code with your smartphone to view this agenda and reports online at 
www.telford.gov.uk/meetings  

 
 

AGENDA 
1.   Apologies for Absence 

 
  

2.   Declarations of Interest 
 

  

3.   Minutes of the Previous Meeting Appendix A 3 - 6 
 To confirm the minutes of the previous meeting. 

 
  

4.   Deferred/Withdrawn Applications   
 None 

 
  

5.   Site Visits 
 

  

6.   Planning Applications for Determination Appendix B 7 - 8 
 Please note that the order in which applications are heard may be 

changed at the meeting.  If Members have queries about any of the 
applications, they are requested to raise them with the relevant 
Planning Officer prior to the Committee meeting. 

  

Public Document Pack

Page 1



 

 
6.1.   TWC/2021/0737 - Land west of New Works Lane, Telford Appendix C 9 - 52 
6.2.   TWC/2021/0858 - Land adj 3 Davenport Drive, Admaston, Telford, 

Shropshire 
Appendix D 53 - 68 

  

Page 2



 

 

PLANNING COMMITTEE 
 
Minutes of a meeting of the Planning Committee held on Wednesday, 22 

September 2021 at 6.00 pm in Lillywhites Suite, AFC Telford United, 
Watling Street, Wellington, Telford TF1 2NP 

 
 
Present: Councillors N A Dugmore, I T W Fletcher, J Jones, J Loveridge 
(Vice-Chair), K Middleton, S J Reynolds (as substitute for G H Cook), 
K S Sahota (as substitute for R Mehta), P J Scott and C F Smith (Chair) 
 
In Attendance: V Hulme (Development Management Service Delivery 
Manager), I Ross (Legal Advisor), H Rea (Legal Assistant), L Gordon 
(Democracy Officer) and J Clarke (Senior Democracy Officer) 
 
Apologies: Councillors G H Cook and R Mehta 
 
PC192 Declarations of Interest 
 
None. 
 
PC193 Minutes of the Previous Meeting 
 
RESOLVED – that the minutes of the meeting of the Planning Committee 
held on 25 August 2021 be confirmed and signed by the Chairman. 
 
PC194 Deferred/Withdrawn Applications 
 
None. 
 
PC195 Site Visits 
 
None. 
 
PC196 Planning Applications for Determination 
 
Members had received a schedule of planning applications to be determined 
by the Committee and fully considered each report. 
 
PC197 TWC/2010/0828 - Land at Ironstone, Lawley, Telford, 

Shropshire 
 
This was an application for a Deed of Variation to Phase 10 on land at 
Ironstone, Lawley, Telford, Shropshire. 
 
The Deed of Variation had been deferred at Planning Committee on 25 
August 2021 to seek further information and clarification on the viability report. 
 
Councillor J Yorke spoke on behalf of the Parish Council regarding what they 
considered to be incorrect procedure at the meeting on 25 August 2021 and 

Page 3

Agenda Item 3



 

 

informed the Committee of the complaint that had been submitted.  
Discussion on the application at this meeting would further exacerbate the 
situation.  He raised concerned regarding the derogation of due process, 
committee manipulation, affordable housing profits, the Lawley SUE 
development, the Homes England Grant and the proposed  zero per cent 
affordable housing in light of the decision made by Shropshire Council at the 
Ironbridge Development. 
 
 Mrs J Yorke a member of the public spoke against the application and raised 
concerns regarding what she felt was the ease that the Committee had been 
persuaded at the fear of appeal costs, the viability report and zero per cent 
affordable housing, property price increases, the reliance on the use of 
outside consultant and the need to fight shareholder and developer greed. 
 
Mr I Greatrex, Viability Consultant for the Developer informed Members of the 
current position and that Taylor Wimpey could not provide affordable housing 
from the S106 Agreement due to site specifics, the retaining wall and ground 
conditions.  The approach was entirely consistent with viability guidelines and 
consultants had reviewed the submission details on the costs.  There were 
minor errors but nothing that would change the conclusion that the S106 to 
provide affordable housing could not be supported.  Selling prices of the 
houses were in line with the forecast and there had been no increase in the 
last 12 months and the position of the viability at the present time had 
worsened.  Viability was a material consideration.   The consultant’s 
conclusion was accepted and it provided the best chance of affordable 
housing on this phase of the Lawley development. 
 
The Development Management Service Delivery Manager addressed 
Members that the application before them was to vary the S106 Agreement as 
the site was unviable.  National policies must be considered together with 
supporting evidence which had been independently assessed on behalf of the 
Council and there would be a 400k deficit on the site even with the reduction 
to zero per cent affordable housing.  The application was considered in June 
2021 and it was accepted that the site was not viable. This was re-considered 
in August 2021 where questions were raised in regard to the viability and 
evidence was produced in relation to the sales values over the preceding 
twelve months.  This demonstrated that there was no uplift and this was 
compounded by the rise of construction costs.  Where there was a return 
below the profit margin Officers were obliged to consider the details.  It was 
recognised that the scheme had provided £13m in the S106 Agreement as 
well as on the site which included £180,000 off site specialist accommodation.  
The only remaining item to be considered was the affordable housing.  The 
Developers were working with the Wrekin Housing Group in order to obtain 
grant funding.  Grant funding had provided some 1,600 affordable units across 
the borough outside of the S106 Agreements which was 61% of delivery rate.  
New build and social rented accommodation was expected to be 40-55% but 
with grant funding it could increase to 80%.  Wrekin Housing Group had given 
a commitment to work with the Developer to deliver the affordable housing 
outside of the S106 Agreement.  Members were asked to consider the issue 
around the viability and the zero per cent affordable housing and the 

Page 4



 

 

recommendation remained the same that zero affordable housing come 
forward through the Deed of Variation. 
 
During the debate some Members felt that they were being “batted into 
submission” and that they couldn’t fight back and that when a site became 
unviable a line needed to be drawn.  It was asked if it was definite that Wrekin 
Housing Group would supply the affordable housing and if this could be 
conditioned.  Concerns were raised about the position Members were in and 
the “rubber stamping” exercise and it was asked if all Members abstained 
could the officers pass the application themselves. 
 
The Development Management Service Delivery Manager said that in order to 
apply for grant funding affordable housing could not be assigned in the S106 
Agreement or through any condition.  The Wrekin Housing Group had given 
Board approval, subject to the zero per cent affordable housing via the S106 
Agreement, to make an application to Homes England, but this could not be 
guaranteed.  
 
The Chair confirmed that Members needed to make a decision.  There was a 
lack of reasons for refusal at the last meeting and this led to the deferral. 
 
The Legal Advisor explained that an abstention by all Members would be an 
odd situation and that Members were there to determine and form a view.  He 
expressed that in respect of Councillor Yorke’s summary of the previous 
meeting a correct and proper decision was made as it was proposed and 
seconded and put to a vote and on defeating the recommendation Members 
moved on to decide what to do next and Members opted to defer and he was 
procedurally entirely comfortable that the correct procedure had taken place. 
 
Other Members felt that they did not “rubber stamp” and that they looked at 
the application details and with advice from the Legal Advisor they listened to 
all of the information before they made a decision. 
 
Continued apprehension regarding the zero per cent affordable housing was 
raised by some Members together with the viability within the NPPF and the 
supply of affordable housing by the Registered Social Landlord, the 
misinterpretation of information, the case for affordable housing reduction, 
validation of the viability assessment and the timeline of when this was 
undertaken, building costs, cost of the re-building of the retention wall, lack of 
a guarantee that the application for grant funding would be successful and it 
was wrong to allow developers to “get their cut” and for local residents not to 
get affordable housing. 
 
Further points raised by other Members were that at the June 2021 meeting 
Members were told the viability provision was 10% and this was always a 
bonus amount.  This had not changed and that Planning Committee was a 
quasi-judicial board and looked at legal reasons and Members were not 
trained in viability so were unable to go against legal reasons and that it was 
Members responsibility to look at the parameters and although sometimes 
they disagreed and it could be frustrating it was what had to be done. 

Page 5



 

 

 
At the end of the debate some Members felt that officers had done the best 
they could in the circumstances.  
 
On being put to the vote it was, by a majority:- 
 
RESOLVED – that in respect of Planning Application TWC/2010/0828 that 
the Deed of Variation to the Section 106 Agreement be approved. 
 
The meeting ended at 6.48 pm 

 
Chairman:   

 
Date: 

 
Wednesday, 20 October 2021 

 

Page 6



PLANNING COMMITTEE 
LIST OF BACKGROUND PAPERS  

 

The Background Papers taken into account when considering planning applications 
on this list include all or some of the following items.  Items 1 to 4 are included on the 
file for each individual application. 
 
1. Application:  includes the application form, certificate under Section 65 of the 

Town and Country Planning Act, 1990, plans, and any further supporting 
information submitted with the application. 

 
2. Further correspondence with applicant: includes any amendments to the 

application – including any letters to the applicant/agent with respect to the 
application and any further correspondence submitted by the applicant/agent, 
together with any revised details and/or plans. 

 
3. Letters from Statutory Bodies:  includes any relevant letters to and from the 

Parish Councils, Departments of Telford & Wrekin Council, Water Authorities 
and other public bodies and societies.  

 
4. Letters from Private Individuals:  includes any relevant letters to and from 

members of the public with respect to the application, unless the writers have 
asked that their views are not reported publicly. 

 
5. Statutory Plans and Informal Policy Documents:  some or all of the following 

documents will comprise general background papers taken into account in 
considering planning applications in the administrative area of Telford and 
Wrekin (“Telford and Wrekin”) 

 
a)  Telford & Wrekin Local Plan 2011-2031 (adopted 11th January 2018) 

including any Neighbourhood Plans 
b)  Telford and Wrekin Supplementary Planning Documents:  

 Design for Community Safety SPD (adopted June 2008);  

 Telecommunications Development SPD (adopted May 2009); and  

 Shop Fronts, Signage and Design Guidance in Conservation Areas 
SPD (adopted April 2012) 

c) Government Planning Guidance – National Planning Policy Framework 
(NPPF), Planning Practice Guidance and Circulars 

d) Town and Country Planning legislation, case law and other planning 
decisions and articles 

 
 
6. Past decision notices and reports referred to in specific reports. 
 
7. The following additional documents (if appropriate):-  

Page 7

Agenda Item 6



This page is intentionally left blank



TWC/2021/0737 
Land west of New Works Lane, Telford, Shropshire 
Installation of solar farm and associated infrastructure.  Enlargement of existing car park and 
creation of viewing area 

 
APPLICANT RECEIVED 
James Smith, Greentech 23/07/2021 
 
PARISH WARD 
Little Wenlock Wrockwardine 
 
THIS APPLICATION HAS BEEN CALLED TO COMMITTEE AT THE REQUEST OF 
CLLR JACQUI SEYMOUR. 

Online Planning File: https://secure.telford.gov.uk/planning/pa-
applicationsummary.aspx?applicationnumber=TWC/2021/0737  

1. Summary Recommendations 

 
1.1 The proposals are considered to be contrary to local and national planning 

policies and are recommended for refusal. 

 

2. APPLICATION SITE 

 

2.1 The application site is located to the west of Dawley Road and New Works Lane, 

south of the M54 and lies within the parish of Little Wenlock.  The site is made up 

of a number of fields covering around 40 hectares.  The western boundary aligns 

with the edge of Short Wood and there is woodland to the southern boundary.  

This southern woodland forms part of a Scheduled Ancient Monument.  A small 

number of residential properties are located adjacent to the eastern boundary.  

Within the site on the eastern side is an existing small car park.  The site falls 

within the Wrekin Forest Strategic Landscape Area, and is in close proximity to 

the Shropshire Hills Area of Outstanding Natural Beauty (AONB). 

 
2.2 The site forms part of a restored open cast mine and has a number of public 

rights of way either within it or along its boundaries.  These rights of way form 

part of an extensive network or public rights of way connecting Lawley with the 

open countryside and The Ercall and The Wrekin. 

 
2.3 The site has a varying land form, with the southern section undulating slightly 

and the northern section sloping down towards the M54.  The fall across the 

southern part of the site is from around 202m AOD from the southern boundary 

of Field 7 to 162m AOD on the northern boundary of Field 4.  Fields 1-3 form a 

ridge with the land levels falling from west to east and south to north to a point of 

144m AOD in the north eastern corner of Field 2.  There are extensive views to 

Page 9

Agenda Item 6a

https://secure.telford.gov.uk/planning/pa-applicationsummary.aspx?applicationnumber=TWC/2021/0737%20
https://secure.telford.gov.uk/planning/pa-applicationsummary.aspx?applicationnumber=TWC/2021/0737%20


the north across the Shropshire Plains.  The site is predominantly used for 

grazing.  Hedgerows within the site are predominantly gorse. 

 
2.4 West of the site the land falls away within Short Wood to a small valley at 

Steeraway before rising steeply up a ridge within Limekiln Wood north of 

Maddock’s Hill, beyond which lies the higher ridge of the Ercall reaching 265m 

AOD.  The summit of the Wrekin (401m AOD) lies some 3.2km to the south west 

of the site. 

 
2.5 Access to the site is proposed from Dawley Road where there is an existing 

gateway. 

3. PROPOSED DEVELOPMENT 

 
3.1 The proposal relates to the construction of a solar farm.  This would consist of a 

series of arrays set out across the site.  These are proposed to be fixed arrays 

having a maximum height of 3m. The following additional equipment would be 

required throughout the site: 

 

 Six storage containers (four containing batteries and one each for spare 

parts and maintenance equipment to be located near the Dawley Road 

entrance 

 Five inverter/transformer stations located around the site near the edges 

 A GRP (Glass Reinforced Plastic) substation and control cabin to be 

located near the Dawley Road entrance  

 A 3.5m wide stone surfaced maintenance access track within the security 

fence 

 An access track will be provided through the site from the gravel restricted 

byway that runs through the site 

 Security/deer fencing around the perimeter of the site 

 Metal framed gates to allow vehicle access to the solar arrays 

 CCTV surveillance cameras 

 
3.2 The battery containers are shown to be approximately 2.4m wide, 12m long and 

2.9m high.  The storage container is shown to be approximately the same width 

and length and around 2.4m in height.  The inverter/transformer station is shown 

to be approximately 2.4m wide, 6m long and around 2.9m high.  The customer 

substation would be 5.3m wide, 7.8m long and 4m high.  The distribution network 

operator substation is 4.5m wide, 5.1m long and 3.5m high.  The monitoring and 

communications cabin is approximately 3.3m wide, 3.9m long (4.75 with the 

weather station) and 3.3m high.  The weather station could be a pole of around 

5m in height and would include a satellite aerial.  The fencing is to be 2m high 

and gates would be approximately 5.5m wide.  CCTV posts would be 3m high.   

 

Page 10



3.3 It is also proposed to include new native hedgerow planting, the creation of a 

new wetland area, new tree and shrub planting.  In addition, it is proposed to 

extend the existing car park to more than double its size and create a new picnic 

area.  New information boards explaining the recreational links into the AONB 

and wider area and explaining the site’s history would be provided.  A new 

permissive path along the western boundary of the site which would be available 

for pedestrians, cyclists and horses is also proposed. 

 
3.4 A new vehicular access into the site is proposed to the south of the current 

access from Dawley Road.  This would be from a simple priority-controlled T-

junction.  The existing access would be closed to vehicular use and would be 

retained for pedestrian use. 

4. PLANNING HISTORY 

 

4.1 TWC/2020/0416:  Change of use of woodland to Forest School and erection of 1 

no. storage shed and 1 no. toilet shed.  Full Granted 18/09/2020 

4.2 EIA/2020/0007:  Erection of a utility solar farm with electricity storage batteries 

for the production, storage and export of electricity.  Withdrawn 22/02/2021 

4.3 EIA/2020/0004:  Erection of a solar farm.  Screening Opinion given 07/07/2020 

4.4 EIA/2020/0003:  Erection of a solar farm.  Screening Opinion given 11/05/2020 

4.5 EIA/2019/0001:  Creation of a ground mounted solar farm:  Screening Opinion 

given 16/07/2019 

4.6 W2007/1648:  Proposed Huntington Lane surface mine site, involving the 

working of coal and fireclay, restoration and aftercare.  Appeal allowed 

06/10/2009 

4.7 EIA/2006/0001:  Proposed open cast coal site.  Screening Opinion given 

04/10/2006 

4.8 EIA/2006/0002:  Proposed open cast coal site.  Scoping Opinion given 

08/09/2006 

4.9 W97/0862:  Winning and working of coal and clay by opencast methods, water 

treatment areas, offices with septic tanks, habitat management of land adjoining 

the opencast site.  The opencast site to be restored to community woodland and 

agriculture.  Appeal dismissed 19/03/2001 

4.10 W94/0738:  Winning and working of coal and clay by opencast methods, coal 

processing, requiring the construction of temporary coal preparation plan, water 

treatment aras, offices with septic tanks, habitat management of land adjoining 

the opencast site.  The opencaste site to be restored to community woodland 

and agriculture.  County Objections 27/11/1996 

4.11 W92/0486:  Winning, working and processing of coal by opencast methods 

followed by restoration to part agriculture, part tourism and leisure and part 

residential.  County Delegated Objections 25/11/1992 

4.12 W88/0697:  Land stabilisation and remedial works and extraction of coal by 

opencast mining methods.  Full Refused 08/12/1988 

 

Page 11



5. Relevant Policy Documents 

 
5.1 National Planning Policy Framework (NPPF) 

National Planning Practice Guidance 
 

5.2 Telford & Wrekin Local Plan 2011-2031 

 
SP3 Rural area 
SP4 Presumption in favour of sustainable development 
NE1 Biodiversity and geodiversity 
NE2 Trees, hedgerows and woodlands 
NE5 Management and maintenance of public open space 
NE7 Shropshire Hills Area of Outstanding Natural Beauty and Strategic 
Landscapes 
C3 Impact of development on highways 
BE1 Design criteria 
BE4 Listed buildings  
BE6 Buildings of local interest  
BE8 Archaeology and scheduled ancient monuments 
ER1 Renewable energy 
ER2 Mineral safeguarding 
ER12 Flood risk management 

 
5.3 Other material planning considerations 

 
S85 Countryside and Rights of Way Act 2000 
Shropshire Hills AONB Management Plan 2019-2024 
The Wrekin Forest Plan 2015-2020 
Telford and Wrekin Strategic Landscapes Study 2015 

 
6. NEIGHBOUR REPRESENTATIONS  

 

6.1 A large number of representations have been submitted raising the following 

points: 

 

 Solar panels belong on roofs – plenty of industrial buildings 

 Impact on precious landscape 

 Impacts on flora and fauna 

 Loss of green space 

 Impacts on walkers and riders 

 Area is a community asset and important for mental health 

 Unique landscape 

 Increase in traffic 

 Concerns about decommissioning 

 Heritage and landscape impacts 

Page 12



 Support solar but not in an area of outstanding natural beauty 

 Should use the motorway embankment for solar panels 

 No local jobs or benefits 

 Green spaces important for mental health and wellbeing 

 Impacts on Wrekin Strategic Landscape and should be protected 

 Impacts on Scheduled Ancient Monument 

 Need to consider cumulative impacts with proposed solar farm on 

Steeraway Farm 

 Impacts on designated natural assets, Local Wildlife Sites, SSSI, Local 

Nature Reserve, Ancient Woodland 

 Distinct habitat and provides for particular species 

 Will breach the restoration condition following the coal mining activities 

 Site forms part of the T50 walks – described as having ‘excellent views’ 

 Visual detriment will be severe 

 Proposed footpath would circle perimeter of solar farm – would not open 

up recreational routes 

 Site important entry point to Wrekin Forest 

 Increasing size of car park will impact on amenity of area 

 Impacts on local Forest School 

 Will negatively impact disabled people who can use these paths in open 

countryside 

 Ecological appraisal confirms high connectivity to habitat of significance 

(Short Wood and Limekiln Wood) 

 Inadequate desktop study for breeding birds 

 Loss of hedgerow and impacts on birds 

 Loss of farmland – currently used for sheep grazing 

 Connecting with green spaces part of NHS long term plan, especially 

following Covid-19 pandemic 

 Views towards The Ercall and Wrekin would be obscured by solar panels 

 Increased risk of accidents during construction period 

 Fire risks from battery storage 

 Solar farms not the answer as not enough sunshine 

 Not possible for the proposal to be sensitively screened 

 Impacts on users of the “safer routes to school” footpath 

 Out of date bat surveys 

 Many areas where the impacts would be less than this site 

 Inaccurate and misleading description of the development 

 Car park and viewing area/picnic area are community benefits and not 

infrastructure 

 Impacts on local roads of increased size of car park not been assessed  

 Impact of car park and picnic area on residential amenity not assessed 

 Fencing and panels come very close to Fairhaven and should be set back 

Page 13



 Glint and glare affecting Fairhaven 

 Vegetation within Fairhaven’s control cannot be assessed as mitigation 

 Proposed buildings are utilitarian in appearance – should use local 

vernacular 

 Coal mine was allowed due to its short term nature and reversible impacts 

 Part of restoration was new woodland – not shown to be protected 

 Restoration maintenance plan was to cover the period to 2030 

 Site is valuable and sensitive Barn Owl site – breeding owls on site 

 Impacts on Barn Owls not assessed 

 Proposed permissive path has been in place for years and is signposted 

 Existing paths will be contained in corridors of fencing and planting 

 Rough grassland is an unusual landscape locally and valued by some 

species of wildlife 

 Site accessible via Hutchinson Way and from Watling Street as well as the 

T50 50 Mile Trail 

 If accepted the paths should be wider than 3.5m given the high 

landscaping and fencing proposed 

 If biodiversity value of land is increased over life of solar farm will this be 

degraded to restore land to former condition? 

 

 Support – will be a benefit to the area 

 Contributes towards the Council’s goals in respect of the Climate 

Emergency 

 Will have less impact on local area than the extraction of coal and fireclay 

did 

 Climate change will have a devastating effect on all, including wildlife 

 Proposals would delivery 3% of the borough’s power demand 

 Would have less impact than Telford which is growing 

 Not visible in the landscape other than from localised public rights of way 

 Need increased electricity supplies for electric cars 

 Land unsuitable for farming 

 Welcome permissive path 

 Existing rights of way won’t be affected 

 Visited other solar farms and they work well with nature 

 Welcome commitment to extend car park and provide picnic area 

 Permissive paths should be dedicated as permanent rights of way 

 Area will be improved with Ecological Management proposed 

 Developer is same company behind the Ironbridge Power Station 

proposals and the solar farm would prevent residential development of the 

site for 40 years 

 
6.2 A letter of representation has been received from the Rt Hon Mark Pritchard MP 

Page 14



raising concerns about impacts on the AONB and Strategic Landscape.  Impacts 

on the restored sites including designated features covered by the restoration 

management in the s106.  Limited community benefits would not outweigh the 

benefits from the previous restoration plan.  Renewable energy needs to be the 

right renewable source in the right location.  The area chosen is inappropriate 

and other sites within the borough should be considered first. 

 

6.3 Concerns have been raised in respect of the proposals breaching conditions 

and/or promises made in respect of the land following the open cast coal mining 

allowed on appeal.  As far as can be ascertained from the planning records the 

conditions were and have been complied with.  There is a s106 Agreement that 

requires a further period of land management for areas of restoration. 

However, those areas are quite specific in their nature and the only landscape 

type covered by the s106 is the woodland edge.  No development is proposed 

within the woodland edge other than the permissive footpath, already approved 

as far as the unrestricted byway as part of the coal mining restoration 

programme.  This application seeks to continue the permissive path to the 

bridleway at the northern edge of the site. 

 
6.4 There are no conditions or clauses requiring the land to be kept for community 

use following the coal mining activities. 

 
7. STATUTORY REPRESENTATIONS 

 

7.1 Little Wenlock Parish Council – No objection. 

 
7.2 Wellington Town Council:  Object 

This application should be rejected in its entirety. This land should be protected 
and preserved not abused and defaced. Telford has multiple industrial estates 
and commercial buildings - put the panels on them. This is an area which we 
must preserve for our next generations wellbeing. 

 
7.3 Lawley and Overdale Parish Council:  Object 

Sits in the rural boundary adjacent to The Wrekin/Shropshire Hills and is a 
designated Area of Natural Beauty.  Previous applications have been refused 
setting a precedent against development in this area (TWC/2015/0352 for 31 
dwellings).  Identified as open green space to remain in the Local Plan.  Traffic 
concerns on Dawley Road.  Poor visibility splays especially for HGVs.  Impacts 
on visual amenity with detrimental impacts for walkers on public footpaths and 
viewing area from other vantage points.  Impacts upon PROW attractiveness of 
users etc.  Central Government wants us to use our green spaces, PROWs etc 
to benefit health.  Proposed development site is enjoyed as open space by a 
large number of people, wildlife, and fauna, so to lose more green open space 
would be devastating to them and to the area.  Site has previous conditions 
regarding return to farmland with an expectation it would return to its pre-

Page 15



condition after a further 15 years.  This time has not expired and would be set 
back for a further 40 years and will need another 20 years to return to normal.  
Contravenes several planning considerations: 
• Planning policy/circulars/statutory instruments, Local plan policy  
• Previous decisions including any appeals, case law 
• Highway issues 
• Noise and disturbance, 
• Social facilities (walkers/PROW’s) 
• Ground conditions  
• Wildlife (ecology), trees and landscaping 
• Historic conservation (AONB) 
• Layout and density of design, visual appearance, character of the area 
 

7.4 Highways England:  No objections subject to conditions. 

On review of the Landscape and Visual Impact Assessment Report dated April 
2021, Highways England confirm that a robust assessment has been undertaken 
in accordance with prevailing policies and standards. On assessment of various 
viewpoints of the site within the locality, it is evident that views of the site from the 
M54 are largely screened by cuttings and vegetation along the road corridor 
however a small part of the proposed solar farm fencing and inverter station 
within field 1 would be slightly visible to eastbound travellers.  
 
It is noted that the site is only slightly viewable from the M54 Motorway therefore 
unlikely to give rise to any significant effect. Solar Farm development within view 
of vehicles travelling along the Strategic Road Network has the potential to give 
rise to glint and glare visual impacts which may distract / impair drivers resulting 
in hazard to the safe operation of the SRN and its users in accordance with DfT 
Circular 02/2013 para 49. To further alleviate concern with regard to glint and 
glare impacts to motorists on the SRN, A Solar Photovoltaic Glint and Glare 
Study (dated December 2020) has also been undertaken by the applicant which 
states that solar reflection is not geometrically possible towards any of the 
assessed locations along the M54 near Junction 6 due to the south facing 
orientation of PV Panels therefore no mitigation is required. 
 
Highways England therefore confirm sufficient information has been provided in 
compliance with DfT Circular 02/2013 para 45-48 and is unlikely to give rise to 
any significant effect, Glint and Glare, which may impact the safe operation of the 
M54 Motorway in accordance with DfT Circular 02/2013 para 49. 
 

7.5 Natural England – No objection:   

Based on the plans submitted, Natural England considers that the proposed 
development will not have significant adverse impacts on designated sites and 
has no objection.  The proposed development is for a site within or close to a 
nationally designated landscape namely Shropshire Hills AONB. Natural England 
advises that the planning authority uses national and local policies, together with 
local landscape expertise and information to determine the proposal.  

Page 16



 
Any decision should be guided by paragraph 172 of the National Planning Policy 
Framework which gives the highest status of protection for the ‘landscape and 
scenic beauty’ of AONBs and National Parks. For major development proposals 
paragraph 172 sets out criteria to determine whether the development should 
exceptionally be permitted within the designated landscape. 
 
The statutory purpose of the AONB is to conserve and enhance the area’s 
natural beauty. The decision taker should assess the application carefully as to 
whether the proposed development would have a significant impact on or harm 
that statutory purpose. Relevant to this is the duty on public bodies to ‘have 
regard’ for that statutory purpose in carrying out their functions (S85 of the 
Countryside and Rights of Way Act, 2000). The Planning Practice Guidance 
confirms that this duty also applies to proposals outside the designated area but 
impacting on its natural beauty. 
 

7.6 Shropshire Fire Service andTWC Built Heritage Specialist:  Raise no objections. 

 
7.7 Archaeology – Comment:   

Site lies within an area of coal mining remains west of New Works Lane, part of 
which is a Scheduled Ancient Monument.  The northern part of the proposed 
development site was subject to open cast mining in the 20th and early 21st 
centuries, which removed the non-designated mining remains.  A Historic 
Environment Desk-Based Assessment (HEDBA) has been supplied in support of 
this application. The report concludes that there will be no indirect (visual) harm 
to the Scheduled Monument, and that the potential for the site to contain any 
previously unrecorded archaeological remains is very low to nil. We would concur 
with this assessment. However, we would note that the site boundary as defined 
in the HEDBA does not correspond to the site boundary as shown in the plans 
accompanying this application, (rather it corresponds to the area of the former 
open cast mining and the area of the proposed finished solar farm). As such the 
proposed development site boundary does include part of the Scheduled 
Monument. We note that Historic England have been consulted for their views on 
this application. As regards direct archaeological impact, and subject to any 
comments and recommendations from Historic England, we have no further 
comments to make on this application in respect of archaeological matters. 
 

7.8 Planning Policy:  Comment 

The application site is situated outside of the built up area of Telford, as shown 
on the TWLP Policies Map, and is therefore located within the rural area. TWLP 
Policy SP 3 sets out that the Council will support development in the rural area 
where it addresses the needs of rural communities. Development is directed to 
the reuse of previously developed land and the settlements with good 
infrastructure.  
 

Page 17



The site falls within the Wrekin Forest Strategic Landscape Area, and is in close 
proximity to the Shropshire Hills Area of Outstanding Natura Beauty (AONB). 
TWLP Policy NE 7 states that the Council will protect the borough’s Strategic 
Landscapes from development which would cause detrimental change to the 
quality of the landscape. Further, NE 7 states that the Shropshire Hills AONB will 
be given the highest level of protection.  
 
The proposal is for the erection of a utility solar farm with electricity storage 
batteries for the production, storage and export of electricity. Policy ER 1 states 
that the Council supports renewable energy development (excluding wind 
turbines) where it has been demonstrated that all the following criteria have been 
met:  
i. There is no significant adverse effect on highway safety, landscape or 

townscape, ecology and wildlife, heritage assets, areas or features of 
historical significance or amenity value; 

ii. There is no significant adverse impact on local amenity, health and quality of 
life as a result of noise, emissions to atmosphere, electronic interference or 
outlook through unacceptable visual intrusion; 

iii. Where development is granted, mitigation measures will be required as 
appropriate to minimise any environmental impacts; 

iv. All development proposals for renewable energy generation schemes should 
provide for the site to be reinstated to its former condition should the 
development cease to be operational; and 

v. When considering the social and economic benefits, account will be taken of 
the degree of community participation/ownership of a scheme. 

 
The above echoes the National Planning Policy Framework (NPPF). Paragraph 
152 notes that the planning system should help to shape places in ways that 
contribute to radical reductions in greenhouse gas emissions, Paragraph 155 
notes that any increase in supply of renewable and low carbon energy must 
ensure that adverse impacts are addressed satisfactorily. 
Telford & Wrekin Council has declared a Climate Emergency and is working to 
limit the impact of climate change across the Borough. The Telford & Wrekin 
Local Plan supports renewable energy development (excluding wind turbines) 
subject to meeting criteria set out in Policy ER1.  
 
Policy ER 1 criteria i. supports development that has no adverse effect on 
landscape (among other matters). The applicant acknowledges that there will be 
a direct adverse effect on a part of the Wrekin Forest Strategic Landscapes. As 
such, the landscape impact needs to be considered carefully.  
Were there considered to be a significant adverse effect on the landscape, or any 
other matter under Policy ER 1, and the benefits of the proposal do not outweigh 
the impact, then the development would not be supported in principle. 
 

7.9 Historic England – The area of the proposed solar farm is largely within a 

recently restored open cast mine, and so will not impact on archaeological 

Page 18



remains. If planning permission is granted by the Council, we recommend that in 

order to preserve the setting of the monument no development takes place within 

20 metres of the monument boundary. There will still be some impact caused by 

development within the setting of the ancient monument area, but this can be 

lessened by design. We recommend that mitigation measures are considered 

including that storage containers, inverters and transformers, substation etc are 

located away from the scheduled monument so as to minimise the impact upon 

the rural woodland setting of the monument area. We also recommend that 

recessive colours are used and the design of the surrounding fence, trackway, 

and lighting scheme is carefully considered to minimise visual impacts.  We 

consider that the issues and safeguards outlined in our advice need to be 

addressed in order for the application to meet the requirements of Section 16 of 

the NPPF (July 2021).  In determining this application the decision maker should 

bear in mind the statutory duty of section 66(1) of the Planning (Listed Buildings 

and Conservation Areas) Act 1990 to have special regard to the desirability of 

preserving listed buildings or their setting or any features of special architectural 

or historic interest which they possess, and section 38(6) of the Planning and 

Compulsory Purchase Act 2004 to determine planning applications in 

accordance with the development plan unless material considerations indicate 

otherwise. 

 
7.10 Coal Authority:  No objections subject to conditions. 

The Coal Authority  have reviewed the proposals and confirm that the application 
site falls within the defined Development High Risk Area; therefore within the 
application site and surrounding area there are coal mining features and hazards 
which need to be considered in relation to the determination of this planning 
application. 
 
The Coal Authority records indicate that the site lies within an area of both 
recorded and historic unrecorded shallow coal mining, the site is within the 
boundary of a site from which coal has been removed by surface mining 
(opencast) operations, and within or within 20m of the site boundary there are 33 
mine entries (shafts and adits).  Our records indicate that 2 of the mine shafts are 
Limestone shafts (outside the Coal Authority remit).  In addition, the Coal 
Authority has in the past, been called upon to deal with 13 reported hazards and 
3 within 50m of the planning boundary. 
 
The planning application is accompanied by a Coal Mining Risk Assessment, 
July 2021 prepared for the proposed development by RSK Environmental Limited 
(RSK).  The Assessment has been informed by an extensive range of sources of 
historical, geological and coal mining information. 
 
Having carried out an in-depth review of the available information the report 
author concurs with our records and informs that taking into consideration the 
nature of the development, the proposed development can accommodate these 

Page 19



without significant remedial and / or mitigation measures.  However currently it is 
very difficult to estimate the level of risk that the former coal mining activity will 
have on this development.  Therefore, RSK identify that it will be necessary to 
undertake pre-construction intrusive site investigation works to confirm the 
ground conditions, in order to inform any remedial and /or mitigation measures 
required to ensure safe and stable development (NPPF paras. 183 and 184). 
 
With regards to the on-site mine entries, the report author indicates that it is likely 
that these will have been removed either in full or partially but recommends that 
the final layout should be overlain on a plan showing the shaft positions (and 
extent of the opencast workings). Whilst the extent of the opencast working and 
positions of the mine entries have been provided (Figures 4 & 5) it does not 
appear that the applicant has provided the LPA with a plan to illustrate the above.   
RSK go on to state that should any sensitive structures (Inverter and Transformer 
Stations and any buildings are in close proximity to the mine entries then specific 
pre-construction site investigations of these areas should be carried out, or the 
structures moved to areas not affected by the mine entries.  The applicant is 
aware that if development is over these mine entries, treatment / capping is 
required.  We would wish to highlight that any form of development over or within 
the influencing distance of a mine entry can be dangerous and raises significant 
safety and engineering risks and exposes all parties to potential financial 
liabilities.  As a general precautionary principle, the Coal Authority considers that 
the building over or within the influencing distance of a mine entry should 
wherever possible be avoided.  In exceptional circumstance where this is 
unavoidable, expert advice must be sought to ensure that a suitable engineering 
design is developed and agreed with regulatory bodies which takes into account 
of all the relevant safety and environmental risk factors, including gas and mine-
water.   
 
Mine Gas 
It should be noted that wherever coal resources or coal mine features exist at 
shallow depth or at the surface, there is the potential for mine gases to exist. 
These risks should always be considered by the LPA.   The Planning & 
Development team at the Coal Authority, in its role of statutory consultee in the 
planning process, only comments on gas issues if our data indicates that gas 
emissions have been recorded on the site.  However, the absence of such a 
comment should not be interpreted to imply that there are no gas risks present.  
Whether or not specific emissions have been noted by the Coal Authority, local 
planning authorities should seek their own technical advice on the gas hazards 
that may exist, and appropriate measures to be implemented, from technically 
competent personnel. 
 
Sustainable Drainage 
It should be noted that where SUDs are proposed as part of the development 
scheme consideration will need to be given to the implications of this in relation 
to the stability and public safety risks posed by coal mining legacy.  The 

Page 20



developer should seek their own advice from a technically competent person to 
ensure that a proper assessment has been made of the potential interaction 
between hydrology, the proposed drainage system and ground stability, including 
the implications this may have for any mine workings which may be present 
beneath the site.      
 

7.11 Drainage: Object. 

No drainage or flood risk assessment has been submitted with this application.  

As the site is over 1ha a flood risk assessment is required to be submitted with 

the application. 

 
 

7.12 Ecology:  Object. 

Additional information is required relating to habitats including biodiversity net 

loss/gain, designated sites, great crested newts, badgers, red list birds and barn 

owl.  In the absence of this additional information there is an objection to the 

proposed development since it is not possible to conclude that the proposal will 

not cause an offence under The Conservation of Habitats and Species 

(Amendment) (EU Exit) Regulations 2019.   

 
7.13 Highways:  No objection subject to conditions. 

The applicant has provided detailed supporting information with an indicative 
construction programme, outlining the separate construction activities and how 
this will correspond to anticipated HGV movements. This suggests that the peak 
construction period occurs between weeks 4 and 7 of the construction 
programme, with 10 deliveries a day (20 two-way HGV movements). This 
averages out to approximately 4 two-way movements per hour between 1000-
1600, which is not considered to be of any detriment to the safe operation of the 
adopted highway network in this instance. Construction traffic will be routed to 
the M54 via Lawley Drive (Left in, right out of the site) so as to avoid the Cock 
Hotel signal junction to the north; there will be no construction traffic along New 
Works Lane. A condition will be requested to ensure the development is 
constructed in accordance with the Construction Traffic Management Plan 
provided. 
 
It is noted that the proposals also include an extension to the existing community 
car parking facility off New Works Lane. The LHA is supportive of this extension, 
to accompany the enhanced wayfinding and permissive routes to be provided, to 
minimise potential for informal parking on the highway. 
 
The proposed cable route between the site and the point of connection at Ketley 
substation, is considered a sensitive part of the network. As was outlined during 
pre-application discussions, early engagement with the Network 
Management/Streetworks team is imperative in order to ensure all necessary 
future planning for road space booking/traffic management/road closures are in 
place, to minimise disruption to the network and construction programme. 

Page 21



 
7.14 Landscape:  A LVIA submitted as part of the planning application provides details 

of the methodology, relevant planning policy, baseline conditions, the proposed 

development, and the associated prediction of landscape and visual effects.  In 

support of this, the LVIA includes a suite of relevant landscape figures including 

landscape character, designations and a landscape strategy.  Based on zone of 

theoretical visibility (ZTV) mapping, the LVIA also includes visual assessments 

(with some supporting photomontages) from eighteen locations within the study 

area.  In general, the scope of the LVIA is considered to be fit for purpose; its 

approach conforms to relevant guidance and it sets out a detailed and 

comprehensive assessment of landscape and visual effects. The eighteen 

viewpoints represent the typical views experienced by a variety of visual 

receptors, at varying distances across the study area and in general, these are 

also considered fit for purpose. 

 

The extent of any adverse landscape and visual effects are relatively localised 

and in attempting to minimise a number of significant effects, the applicant has 

proposed a wide-ranging suite of mitigation and enhancement measures.  

However, a number of important concerns remain over the selection of the site 

within a designated landscape and the large scale of the proposed development.  

Consequently, it is advised that significant weight should be given to the 

apparent conflicts in landscape-related policy, when balanced against wider 

material considerations.  

 
8. ASSESSMENT 

8.1 Having regard to the development plan policies and other material planning 

considerations, including comments received during the consultation process, the 

planning application raises the following main issues: 

 Principle of the development 

 Character and appearance 

 Ecology and trees 

 Highways 

 Noise and impacts on residential amenity 

 Flood risk and drainage 

 Impacts on heritage assets 

 Glint and glare 

 Land stability 

 
Principle of the development 

8.2 Section 38(6) of the Planning and Compulsory Purchase Act 2004 requires that 

planning applications must be determined in accordance with the adopted 

development plan unless material considerations indicate otherwise.  In this 

instance, the development plan consists of the Telford and Wrekin Local Plan 

Page 22



(TWLP).  The National Planning Policy Framework (NPPF) sets out policy 

guidance at a national level and is a material consideration in planning decisions. 

8.3 Policy SP3 relates to development in the rural area, whilst Policy ER1 relates to 

development proposals relating to renewable energy.  The Local Plan does not 

specifically identify sites for the location of renewable energy schemes, and this 

is appropriate because schemes are required to be located where they can 

connect to the national grid and in locations where there are no significant 

adverse impacts.   

8.4 Policy ER1 identifies that the Council supports renewable energy development, 

subject to a number of criteria.  Chapter 14 of the NPPF sets out the national 

planning policy with regards to climate change, flooding and coastal change.  

This requires the planning system to support the transition to a low carbon future 

and to support renewable and low carbon energy and associated infrastructure.  

Paragraph 155 requires plans to help increase the use and supply of renewable 

and low carbon energy and heat.  This is reflected in Policy ER1. 

8.5 Paragraph 158 of the NPPF states that applications for renewable energy 

development are not required to demonstrate the overall need for renewable 

energy.  It also requires applications to be approved where its impacts are (or 

can be made) acceptable. 

8.6 The Climate Change Act 2008 establishes statutory climate change projections 

and carbon budgets.  The target for carbon emissions was initially set at 80% of 

the 1990 baseline figure by 2050.  This was amended to 100% net zero by 

section 2 of the Climate Change Act 2008 (2050 Target Amendment) Order in 

July 2019.  In July 2019 the Council declared a climate emergency, including an 

ambition to achieve carbon neutrality by 2030, at target 20 years earlier than the 

Government’s target. 

8.7 Policy ER1 supports renewable energy developments subject to various criteria.  

The issues in criteria i), ii) and iii) will be discussed in detail in various topic 

subheadings in this report.  However, it is considered that the proposals fail to 

meet the criteria.   

8.8 Criterion iv) relates to the requirement for a requirement for the site to be 

reinstated to its former condition should the development cease to be 

operational.  Some representations raise concerns about decommissioning.  The 

control over reinstatement lies with the planning permission, if granted, and the 

imposition of conditions requiring the reinstatement of the site.  This is standard 

practice for solar farm (and wind farm) applications and a practice followed by 

local planning authorities and the Planning Inspectorate, both for planning 

appeals and for National Significant Infrastructure Projects (NSIP). 

8.9 Paragraph 13 of the Planning Practice Guidance (ID 5-013-20150327) states that 

“solar farms are normally temporary structures and planning conditions can be 

Page 23



used to ensure that the installations are removed when no longer in use and the 

land is restored to its previous use”. 

8.10 The planning application seeks planning permission for a temporary period of 40 

years, temporary due to the fact that the proposed development can, at the end 

of the project, be removed from the site and the land returned to its former use.  

There is no government imposed limit on the lifetime of solar farms set out in 

national guidance.  Previously temporary consents were sought for 25 year 

periods, based primarily on the typical warranty period offered by manufacturers 

at the time and therefore used for modelling the viability for projects by 

developers.  Due to changes in technology business models have been 

redesigned to reflect the more efficient panels available.  Whilst this in its own 

right is not necessarily a material planning consideration, the increased economic 

and environmental benefits are. 

8.11 In accordance with standard practice, and as set out in Planning Practice 

Guidance, it is considered appropriate, should planning permission be granted, 

for a condition to be imposed requiring a decommissioning plan to be submitted 

within 39 years of the date of first export of electricity to the grid.  

Decommissioning would then be required at the 40 year anniversary in 

accordance with the decommissioning plan.  It would also be considered 

appropriate to impose a condition requiring the submission of a decommissioning 

plan in the event, for whatever reason, the solar farm fails to provide electricity to 

the grid for a continuous period of 6 months within that 39 year period.  Again, 

this is standard practice. 

8.12 Criterion v) of Policy ER1 relates to the degree of community 

participation/ownership of the scheme.  This is in accordance with Paragraph 156 

of the NPPF which states that local planning authorities should support 

community-led initiatives for renewable and low carbon energy schemes.   

8.13 Turning to community benefits, planning legislation is very clear on the fact that 

local planning authorities can only impose conditions in accordance with very 

strict rules; that is where they are necessary, relevant to planning and to the 

development to be permitted, enforceable, precise and reasonable in all other 

respects.  Likewise, s106 obligations can only relate to the development and can 

only be required where they are necessary to make the development acceptable 

in planning terms, directly related to the development, and fairly and reasonably 

related in scale and kind to the development. 

8.14 Recent case law from the Supreme Court has confirmed that it is unlawful to 

condition or tie to a legal agreement community benefits in the form of financial 

contributions when considering a planning application (R(Wright) v Forest of 

Dean DC [2019]). 

8.15 Notwithstanding this, most solar farm applicants usually enter into agreement 

with the local community, normally via the Parish Council, to provide some form 

Page 24



of community benefit.  This could be, for example, the installation of solar panels 

on community buildings.  However, this agreement is entirely outside of the 

planning system and can have no bearing on the decision in respect of the 

planning application.  It is not a material consideration and if the Parish Council 

opts to not engage in approaches by the applicant then, should planning 

permission be granted, the applicant is under no obligation to pursue efforts to 

offer community benefits. 

 

8.16 The site is located on land currently used for agricultural purposes.  Policy SP3 

states that where development is proposed on best and most versatile 

agricultural land the economic and other benefits of the land will be taken into 

account.  Best and most versatile agricultural land falls within grades 1, 2, and 

3a.  Grade 3b land falls outside of the definition of best and most versatile.  

Concern has been raised in the representations about the loss of agricultural 

land and that the development should be directed towards brownfield land, or to 

the roofs of the large scale commercial premises within the Telford and Wrekin 

Borough. 

8.17 Paragraph 13 of the Planning Practice Guidance (ID 5-013-20150327) relates to 

the use of greenfield land and states that poorer quality land should be used in 

preference to higher quality land.  A material consideration is where the proposal 

allows for continued agricultural use where applicable and/or encourages 

biodiversity improvements around the arrays.  The application states that fields 1-

5 will continue to be used for the grazing of sheep around the proposed solar 

panels. 

8.18 The application is accompanied by a comprehensive Agricultural Quality 

Assessment.  This assessed the quality of 36 hectares of agricultural land and 

established that this whilst this site, prior to the earlier coal mining activities was 

a mix of grade 2, 3a and 3b land, it is now entirely classified as Grade 3b.   

8.19 In accordance with Policy SP3 and Footnote 58 of the NPPF the proposed 

development is located on an area of poorer quality land, and is considered to be 

in accordance with local and national planning policies. 

Character and appearance 

8.20 Policy ER1 seeks to ensure that renewable energy development proposals do 

not, inter alia, have a significant adverse effect on landscape.  Policy BE1 

requires development to respond to its context and to respect the landscape 

context.   

8.21 Policy NE7 seeks to protect, inter alia, the borough’s Strategic Landscapes from 

development which would cause detrimental change to the quality of the 

landscape.  The application site falls within the Wrekin Forest Strategic 

Page 25



Landscape.  It also lies in close proximity to the Shropshire Hills Area of 

Outstanding Natural Beauty, which will be given the highest level of protection. 

8.22 Paragraph 174 of the NPPF seeks to protect and enhance valued landscapes in 

a manner commensurate with their statutory status or identified quality in the 

development plan.  It also requires the recognition of the intrinsic character and 

beauty of the countryside, and the wider benefits from natural capital and 

ecosystem services. 

 

8.23 S85 of the Countryside and Rights of Way Act 2000 require that ‘in exercising or 

performing any functions in relation to, or so as to affect land in an area of 

outstanding natural beauty a relevant authority shall have regard to the purpose 

of conserving and enhancing the natural beauty of the area of outstanding 

natural beauty.” 

8.24 The Planning Practice Guidance states that: 

“Land within the setting of these areas often makes an important contribution to 

maintaining their natural beauty, and where poorly located or designed 

development can do significant harm. This is especially the case where long 

views from or to the designated landscape are identified as important, or where 

the landscape character of land within and adjoining the designated area is 

complementary. Development within the settings of these areas will therefore 

need sensitive handling that takes these potential impacts into account.” 

(Paragraph 042 Reference ID:8-042-20190721) 

8.25 Concern has been raised in the representations relating to the scale of the 

proposals and that it fails to protect the character of the area and would result in 

significant harm.  Further concern has been raised in respect of the cumulative 

impacts of these proposals in conjunction with a further scheme on land known 

as Steeraway Farm, located on the western side of Short Wood.  Whilst these 

concerns are acknowledged, to date no planning application has been submitted 

in respect of that site.  That being the case this application must be determined 

on its own merits.  Should an application be submitted in respect of the adjacent 

site then this would need to be determined in accordance with the planning 

issues relevant at that time, including cumulative impacts where appropriate.  It 

would not be appropriate, as suggested in some representations, to delay the 

determination of this application until the submission of a possible application on 

the Steeraway site. 

8.26 The application is accompanied by a Landscape and Visual Impact Assessment.  

This sets out the baseline characteristics of the site and the surrounding 

countryside, and then assesses the landscape and visual impacts of the 

proposals.  The assessment has been carried out in accordance with best 

practice, including Guidelines for Landscape and Visual Impact Assessment 

(GLVIA3). 

Page 26



8.27 The site is identified as being located within the Mid Severn Sandstone Plateau 

National Character Area, and the Wooded Estatelands Local Character Type 

(LCT), transitioning through a narrow area of Wooded Hills and Estatelands to 

the Wooded Hills and Farmlands LCT on the flanks of the Wrekin.   

8.28 The site falls within the Wrekin Forest Strategic Landscape and is described as 

having a “strong and distinctive character, based on the proximity of the Wrekin, 

the presence of extensive woodland, ancient road and settlement patterns and a 

long history farming and industry.  It is an intimate landscape, often enclosed by 

trees and woodland, but with sudden long views.  Much of the area has a sense 

of tranquillity and timelessness, especially away from the motorway.”  It is 

acknowledged that the area is popular for recreation. 

8.29 The area is covered by the Wrekin Forest Plan (2014-2020) which seeks to 

support and provide a framework for the protection, conservation and 

management of the landscape.  Among the aims of the Plan it seeks to: 

 Secure the natural, cultural and economic future of the area 

 Sustain and enhance the existing quality of the landscape 

 
8.30 The Shropshire Hills AONB Management Plan (2019-24) identifies the site as 

falling within the Zone of Influence to the AONB.  This provides recognition that 

the AONB and its high quality landscape has significant economic and social 

influence beyond the boundary.  The Management Plan notes that the 

surroundings and setting of the AONB are important to its landscape and scenic 

beauty.  Views out of the AONB and into it from surrounding areas are a 

significant consideration.  Policy P1 of this document relates to development 

within the setting of the AONB.  This states: 

 

“(i) In line with national and local authority planning policies, the AONB has 

the highest standards of protection for landscape and natural beauty, and the 

purposes of designation should be given great weight in planning decisions. 

(viii) Development in the area around the AONB should be assessed for its 
impacts on the special qualities of the AONB itself, and also take account of the 
special qualities and landscape quality of the setting of the AONB.  Measures to 
consider and mitigate such impacts should include where required Landscape 
and Visual Impact Assessments; care over orientation, site layout, height and 
scale of structures and buildings; consideration of the landscape, land uses and 
heritage assets around and beyond the development site; careful use of colours, 
materials and non-reflective surfaces; restraint and care in the use of lighting.” 

8.31 Policy WF1 relates to the Wrekin Forest and states: 

 

The management of the wider Wrekin Forest area is crucial to the integrity of the 

Wrekin itself within the AONB and should continue to be recognised and 

integrated within planning policy.  The landscape quality of the wider Wrekin 

Page 27



Forest area should be protected as far as possible, and the management of the 

Wrekin itself integrated with this surrounding area.” 

8.32 Key issues affecting the AONB, as identified in the Wrekin Forest Plan and the 

Shropshire Hills AONB Management Plan, as set out in the Telford and Wrekin 

Strategic Landscapes Study (2015) are identified as: 

 Loss of the undeveloped setting of the Wrekin and the Shropshire Hills 

AONB (as seen from roads, villages and the urban edges of Wellington 

and Telford) 

 Localised impacts on views towards the Wrekin and on the tranquillity of 

the landscape from main roads, development and opencast mining 

beyond the Strategic Landscape boundary 

 
8.33 The Strategic Landscapes Study sets out the overall aim is to protect the special 

qualities of the iconic landscape of the Wrekin, and its setting and views.  The 

Wrekin Forest Strategic Landscape has been designated as being the area in 

which the observer feels to be within the Wrekin Forest landscape, rather than 

looking at it from a distance.  This includes the undeveloped landscape which 

provides the setting to the Wrekin Forest.   

8.34 It is acknowledged that the site has formerly been the subject of opencast mining 

and has undergone a restoration programme.  This was required to be managed 

for a period of 5 years following the cessation of the mining works.  A s106 Legal 

Obligation also required a Habitat Management Plan to be implemented for a 

period of 10 years from the expiry of the aftercare condition.  This period runs 

until 2030.   

8.35 The Habitat Management Plan does not relate to the whole site but only to 

specific habitat types within the area covered by the opencast coal mining 

conditions.  These included proposed hedgerow, proposed woodland copses/tree 

belts and proposed woodland edge and these can be found within the current 

application site.  Whilst landscaping works have been carried out, the Landscape 

and Visual Impact Assessment notes that much of the landscape has not 

established due to lack of management.                                                                 

8.36 When considering landscape it is important to consider the impact on the 

character of the landscape as well as the visual impacts.  These are two different 

considerations. 

8.37 Turning first to the impacts on the character of the area, the National Character 

Area description of the area is one dominated by a series or ridges, scarps and 

intervening valleys, an geologically significant, complex and diverse area.  It 

offers an extensive network or rights of way and open access land.  The Wooded 

Estatelands LCT is described as being of a rolling landform with large blocks of 

ancient woodland.  The Wooded Hills and Estatelands LCT is a prominent, 

sloping topography with large discrete blocks of woodland with ancient character. 

Page 28



 

 

 

8.38 The LVIA lists the Key Characteristics of the Strategic Landscape and notates 

that many of the features are missing from the site.  In terms of the “high scenic 

quality” the LVIA states that this is adversely affected by prominence of urban 

development and roads.  Similarly, the enclosed/peaceful rural feel of 

surroundings is also said to be affected by noise and relationship to the urban 

area.   

8.39 The LVIA states that the site isn’t visible from the summit of the Wrekin, and 

likewise the Wrekin isn’t visible from the application site.  There is no reason to 

dispute these findings (the mast on top of the Wrekin is partially visible from the 

application site).   

8.40 The application site contains a small public car park offering opportunities for 

walkers to access the landscape by the network of public rights of way.  The site 

is also connected by rights of way to Wellington to the north and Lawley to the 

east/southeast.  There is limited sporadic residential development along New 

Works Lane.  Arrival at the car park presents an open landscape with views to 

the woodlands adjoining the western and southern boundaries of the site.  

Looking northwards users of the site have extensive views across the Shropshire 

landscape.  The urban landscape of Telford sits in the foreground but forms a 

small part of the extensive area visible from the site.  The M54 lies to the north of 

the site, but does not adjoin it.  This has the potential to impact on users of the 

site, particularly at the northern fringes.  The area is well used for recreational 

purposes and this is reflected in the range of representations received covering a 

wide area. 

8.41 The LVIA describes the site as being: 

 

“There is a recognisable sense of place within much of the site, primarily due to 

the contribution that the adjoining woodlands make to the immediate setting of 

the site and the visual connections that exist with the landscape to the north and 

the moors landscape beyond the built-up area, as well as the historical 

association with past mining activities (as evidenced by the historical mine 

workings - a Scheduled Monument - to the south of the site). Within the site 

views towards the AONB are restricted by the intervening adjoining woodlands of 

Birch Coppice and Short Wood, although there is a perception of its association 

with the (primarily wooded) landscape that extends towards and into the AONB 

beyond. The site lacks any distinctive pattern, with any former landscape 

features and field boundaries having been removed and the poor establishment 

of the replacement field boundary hedges following restoration. As such the site 

appears rather ‘barren’, lacking in landscape structure and integrity.” 

Page 29



 

 

8.42 As detailed in the applicant’s’ LVIA, measures that have been incorporated into 

the layout include the following: 

providing generous setbacks of the arrays where there is potential for views 
from nearby residential properties; 

setting back arrays and security fencing from the public rights of way that cross 
parts of the site (i.e. in the southern part of field 5, southern, eastern and 
northern parts of field 6, and west and northern sides of field 7) to retain 
green corridors and a sense of spaciousness with generous visibility along 
the routes, and also allow the incorporation of planting set back from the 
routes whilst retaining an open prospect; 

removing existing field boundary fencing along these routes to create open 
corridors and avoid a duplicity of fencing; 

reducing the extent of arrays in the southern end of field 5 to create a generous 
area of planting between the site and the car park (which is to be enlarged 
with a grass picnic area provided to the north); and 

setting the arrays back from the southern ends of fields 6 and 7 to reflect local 
topography and the screening already provided by existing vegetation 
(gorse), as well as ensuring that views from the footpath south of field 7 
retain a partially open aspect to the north. 

 

8.43 In relation to landscape design and mitigation, the application is accompanied by 

a Landscaping and Ecological Strategy which is included in the Landscape and 

Visual Assessment in Plan 5.1 and Plan 5.2. The strategy outlines the proposed 

planting and the ecological enhancement measures (to be developed into a 

detailed landscape and ecological management plan during the detail design 

phase) which includes the following: 

planting approximately 900 linear metres of new native hedgerows around fields 
5, 6 and 7; 

reinforcing a further 2250m of existing hedgerows with native hedgerow species 
around the rest of the site; 

creating a wetland area of approximately 1400m2 next to the existing ditch 
between fields 1 and 2; 

almost doubling the size of the existing gorse habitat next to field 7; 
planting plots of new native trees and native shrubs habitat around the site 

which in total amount to almost a hectare of new habitat; 
planting margins with wildflower and scrub grassland species to support 

pollinators, moths, butterflies, invertebrates and birds; 
erecting bird and bat boxes in suitable trees around the site; 
raising the bottom edge of the security fence by 10cm above the ground level to 

allow small animals and reptiles to move freely across the site; 
installing badger gates at appropriate locations within the security fence; 

Page 30



having areas of set-aside that will be made available to local bee keeper(s) for 
their hives; and 

creating wildlife refuge and hibernaculum areas at several locations in the site. 
8.44 The LVIA identifies the development would result in Moderately Significant 

adverse landscape effects on the existing landscape character of the site “which 

would change from featureless pasture fields to areas of PV arrays and related 

fencing, broken up by hedge planting and green corridors. The currently open 

setting of the adjoining woodlands would change, although the woods would 

remain dominant landscape features in relation to the low-rise nature of the 

installation.” The effects would be reduced to Slight adverse and Not Significant 

by year 10 with the development of the proposed structure planting.  

8.45 The proposals would impact on the experience/perception of openness. The 

proposals would change the relatively open (but contained) nature of the site with 

the installation of the arrays and related fencing such that the site would become 

more enclosed, and the visual relationships experienced with adjoining areas 

would be disrupted, although the removal of existing field fencing alongside the 

rights of way within the site would provide a sense of openness along the rights 

of way within the southern part of the site. This effect would remain for the 

duration of the development with the growth of planting strengthening enclosure 

and creating a more ‘intimate’ character, screening and framing views to the 

adjoining landscape. 

8.46 The experience/perception of sense of place over the duration of the 

development. The site has a recognisable sense of place owing primarily to its 

relationship to the mainly wooded landscape to the west/south, the experience of 

the views that are available to the north, and its industrial heritage (although this 

is not obvious). Whilst the site’s relationship to the surrounding woodlands would 

largely remain apparent, the installation would change the sense of place from 

open agricultural land to agricultural land with areas of low-rise energy related 

development interspersed with undeveloped green corridors. The provision of 

informative/interpretive signage would explain and contribute to the appreciation 

of the site’s historical links to past industrial/energy related uses. 

8.47 Turning to visual effects, the LVIA states that Significant and Moderately 

Significant adverse visual effects would be confined to the views experienced by 

users of rights of way (Medium sensitivity receptors, that area more sensitive to 

the changes that would occur in views available within/into/across the site).  

Although fencing and the arrays have been set back significantly from these 

routes, to reduce these effects and retain an open aspect along the routes, the 

proposals would be conspicuous (an in some cases imposing) and lead to a 

clearly noticeable change in existing views, character of the site and sense of 

openness.  The LVIA identifies a number of viewpoints where Significant or 

Moderately Significant adverse visual effects would be experienced by receptors.   

Page 31



8.48 Implementation of the mitigation measures would reduce the visual effects to 

Moderately Significant or Slightly Significant in Year 10.   

8.49 The LVIA has been independently assessed on behalf of the Council and whilst 

the document is generally considered to be fit for purpose, it is considered that 

the assessment of some landscape and visual effects are somewhat 

understated.  Foremost, the effects on the Wrekin Forest Strategic Landscape 

are of particular concern. 

8.50 As evidenced in the applicant’s LVIA, it is apparent that from some locations in 

and around the site, the proposed development would result in a very noticeable 

and uncharacteristic change to the local landscape. As such, the prevailing rural 

character of the Wooded Estatelands LCT and its associated rural lanes, rolling 

landform and broadleaved woodlands are likely to be significantly affected in the 

locality through the introduction of an incongruous development, with an 

industrial appearance. In context of the wider LCT however, the extent of 

landscape effect is relatively localised, largely due to the screening effects of 

surrounding woodlands and rolling/hilly landforms. 

8.51 In relation to avoidance of significant adverse effects on visual amenity, it is very 

apparent that the views of recreational users from some sections of footpaths, 

byways and bridleways would be significantly affected through the introduction of 

a major visual focus, occupying a large part of the view. From parts of 4 nearby 

dwellings along New Works Lane, the views of residents are also predicted to 

experience significant effects. Overall however, it should be recognised that the 

extent of visibility is relatively localised and from most locations where the site is 

likely to be visible in the wider landscape, the arrays and associated 

development would only tend to occupy a small part of the view towards the 

wooded hills. 

8.52 Notwithstanding any adverse landscape effects that are likely to be experienced 

in the local landscape, on balance, these are not considered to be detrimental to 

landscape character, nor the visual amenity of most people living, travelling 

through or enjoying the landscape. However, in considering the findings of the 

LVIA, it is considered that the proposed development conflicts with some parts of 

Policy ER 1 where the visual amenity of recreational users and several residents 

would be compromised.      

8.53 Of primary concern, the proposed development is located within the Wrekin 

Forest Strategic Landscape and some of its Special Qualities are particularly 

vulnerable to the introduction of a large solar array and associated infrastructure 

with an industrial appearance.  In particular, it is considered that the proposed 

development would notably detract from the high scenic quality of the local area, 

the undeveloped setting to nearby wooded hills and associated ancient 

woodlands (including parts of the AONB), the patchwork of irregular-shaped 

Page 32



fields and blocks of woodland, the landscape enjoyment experienced from tracks 

and footpaths, and the sense of rural character and tranquillity. 

8.54 Although only affecting a relatively small part of the designated area, it is 

considered that the effects of the proposed development would result in a 

detrimental change to the quality of the local landscape. As noted in the 

supporting text, the purpose of this policy is to protect the appearance and 

intrinsic landscape quality of these areas and to prevent development which 

would be inconsistent with, and detrimental to, their visual and landscape quality 

and to this end, it is considered that the proposed development is in conflict with 

this policy and associated guidance.  

8.55 Taking into account the statutory duty set out in s85 of the Countryside and 

Rights of Way Act 2000, paragraph 174 of the NPPF and the accompanying 

Planning Practice Guidance, the requirements of Policies ER1 and NE7 of the 

Telford and Wrekin Local Plan, Policies P1 and WF1 of the Shropshire Hills 

AONB Management Plan, it is considered that the proposals would result in harm 

to the character of the area and these harms would need to be weighed against 

the benefits of the proposals. 

8.56 The benefits of the proposals would be the generation of renewable energy, 

sufficient to power 8650 typical homes per annum, and saving approximately 

15,000 kilograms of CO2 emissions per annum, over the lifetime of the proposed 

development (40 years).  However, the Strategic Landscape only forms a very 

small part of the landscape within the Telford and Wrekin borough and it is 

considered that the benefits arising from the proposals are not sufficient to 

outweigh the harms to this special landscape.  The proposals fail to conserve 

and enhance the character of the designated landscape, thus impacting on the 

enjoyment of receptors of the site due to the detrimental change to the quality of 

the landscape.  The proposed mitigation measures are not considered sufficient 

to overcome these impacts and as such the proposals are contrary to national 

and local planning policies. 

Ecology and trees 

8.57 Policy ER1 seeks to ensure that renewable energy schemes do not have 

significant adverse impacts on ecology and wildlife.  Policy NE1 seeks to protect 

biodiversity and there is an expectation that development will provide 

opportunities for enhancing existing ecological features and to mitigate any 

potential impacts.  Policy NE2 seeks to protect existing trees, hedgerows and 

woodland. 

8.58 The application is accompanied by an Ecological Appraisal.   This considers the 

potential impacts on protected species and protected habitats. 

 

 

Page 33



 

8.59 The main habitat within the application site is improved grassland used for 

grazing.  There is a significant area of gorse to the south of the site, plus a range 

of other plants.  There are hedgerows to the northern boundary and the north 

western boundary and parts of the eastern boundary.  The site is bisected by 

ditches, tracks and fences.  Short Wood, an Ancient Woodland and Local Wildlife 

Site is located adjacent to the western boundary of the site. 

8.60 Paragraph 174 d) of the NPPF seeks to ensure that developments will provide 

biodiversity net gains.  Whilst the applicant contends to delivery an enhancement 

to biodiversity, this is not supported by any measurable matrix, such as the 

Biodiversity Net Gain calculator.  

8.61 Part of the hedgerow adjacent to the vehicular access into the site from Dawley 

Road is proposed to be translocated to provide adequate sight lines for the 

access.  This element of the proposals does not appear to have been considered 

in the Ecological Appraisal and has the potential to impact on birds or other 

protected species.    

8.62 The proposals have been considered by the Council’s Ecologist who has raised 

objections to the proposals.  It is considered that there is inadequate assessment 

of the potential impact of the proposals, in particular on Short Wood and the 

Limekiln Wood Local Nature Reserve, the Ercall and Lawrence’s Hill Nature 

Reserve, or the Wrekin and Ercall SSSI.  Whilst it is noted that Natural England 

raise no objections to the proposals in terms of impacts on the SSSI, the 

Council’s ecologist is concerned with the localised impacts on biodiversity and 

protected species.   

8.63 The Council’s Ecologist considers that the application lacks detail with regards to 

the impacts of the proposals on designated sites, or the potential for Short Wood 

to impact on the operation of the solar farm due to shading.  In addition, there is 

insufficient information contained within the application in respect of great crested 

newts, badgers, red list birds (notably Skylarks) and Barn Owls.  As such, it is not 

possible to conclude that the proposals would not cause an offence under The 

Conservation of Habitats and Species (Amendment) (EU Exit) Regulations 2019.  

Therefore, it is not possible consider that the proposals comply with Policies 

ER1, NE1 and NE2. 

Highways 

8.64 Policy C3 seeks to ensure that all development proposals mitigate their impacts 

on the local highway network.  This proposal would have construction impacts 

and operational impacts.  At the end of the project’s lifespan there would be 

decommissioning impacts.  It is envisaged that the construction and 

decommissioning impacts would be similar. 

 

Page 34



8.65 The application is accompanied by a Construction Management Plan.  

Construction works are envisaged to take around 6 months, with construction 

activities taking place 0800-1800 on Monday to Friday and 0800-1400 on 

Saturdays.   

8.66 It is envisaged that around 20 construction workers will be on site.  The panels 

and equipment will be transported to the site on HGVs and it is envisaged that 

around 618 deliveries will be required, at an average of around 5-6 deliveries per 

day, or 10-12 two-way movements per day. 

8.67 Access to the site will be via the existing access serving the proposed new 

access onto Dawley Road.  Access on the highway network is proposed to be 

from Junction 6 of the M54, south along Lawley Drive (A5223) to the White 

Church Roundabout, along The Crescent and Dawley Road. 

8.68 During the operational phase, access would be minimal with around 1 visit per 

month for maintenance purposes, usually in a small van type vehicle.  This would 

not result in any impacts on the local highway network. 

8.69 Decommissioning would have similar impacts to the construction phase over a 

similar timeframe.   

8.70 The proposals have been considered by the Highway’s Officer who confirms that 

they have no objections to the proposals subject to conditions, including one 

requiring a Construction Traffic Management Plan to ensure the construction 

traffic will be routed to the M54 via Lawley Drive so as to avoid the Cock Hotel 

junction.  In addition, they are supportive of the proposals to increase the size of 

the car park to minimise the potential for informal parking on the highway.  

Subject to conditions, the proposals are considered to be in accordance with 

Policy C3. 

Noise and impacts on residential amenity 

8.71 Policies BE1vii) and ER1ii) support proposals where there would be no 

significant adverse effect on local amenity due, inter alia, to noise arising from 

the scheme.  Paragraphs 170e) and 180a) of the NPPF also seeks to prevent the 

loss of amenity due to noise. 

8.72 No Noise Assessment has been submitted with the application and as such no 

assessment of the potential noise impacts on residential amenity has been 

undertaken.  The Design and Access Statement states that noise from the 

transformers will be limited to daylight hours only.   

8.73 However, the application does not appear to have taken into account any 

potential noise associated with the battery storage.  A recent planning application 

at Roden stated that battery stations are operational 24 hours a day, and there is 

no reason to expect this site to be any different.  Whilst battery stations, plus 

inverters, are normally contained within sound-proofed containers, no 

Page 35



acknowledgement of this is made within the application.  The D&A states that 

noise would only be audible within about 30m and is unlikely to be audible at any 

neighbouring property.  This is not backed up by any professional assessment 

and potentially fails to demonstrate the relationship between background noise 

levels and potential noise sources and receptors. 

8.74 Noise associated with construction activities would be heard at nearby 

properties.  The Design and Access Statement states that these impacts would 

be temporary in nature and could be controlled through good working practices 

and limitations on construction hours to avoid the most sensitive times.  This is 

generally accepted. 

8.75 Overall, the proposals have failed to demonstrate that they would not result in a 

loss of residential amenity due to noise impacts and as such it cannot be 

considered that the proposals comply with local and national planning policies. 

Flood risk and drainage 

8.76 Policy ER12 seeks to ensure that development proposals do not result in 

increased flood risk either within the site or elsewhere.  No Flood Risk 

Assessment was submitted with the application despite the site being greater 

than 1ha in size.  As such the Drainage Officer has objected to the proposals as 

it has not clearly demonstrate that the proposed development would not increase 

flood risk.  As such it is not possible to confirm that the proposals would comply 

with local and national planning policies. 

Impacts on heritage assets 

8.77 The Planning (Listed Buildings and Conservation Areas) Act 1990 places 

statutory duties on local planning authorities in respect of considering the impacts 

of proposals on listed buildings and conservation areas.  These duties are also 

reflected in Local Plan Policies BE4 and BE5.  Policies BE6 and BE8 seek to 

protect locally listed buildings and archaeological sites and scheduled ancient 

monuments.  Further policies are set out nationally within the NPPF. 

8.78 The site lies adjacent to a Scheduled Ancient Monument, and part of the land 

associated with that is contained within the proposed application site boundary, 

although no development is proposed in that location.   

8.79 The application is accompanied by a Heritage Statement assessing the potential 

impacts of the proposals on a range of heritage assets.  In terms of potential 

impacts on archaeological deposits, it is accepted that the previous coal mining 

activities may have largely disturbed any potential deposits.  However, there may 

remain small pockets of undisturbed remains.  The County Archaeologist is 

satisfied with these findings. 

 

Page 36



8.80 Given the separation distance between the proposed site and designated 

heritage assets such as listed buildings, it is considered that the proposals would 

not give rise to any adverse impacts on the setting of the assets.  Likewise, the 

proposals are not considered to impact on the Iron Age hill fort atop the Wrekin. 

The Council’s Conservation Officer raises no objections to the proposals. 

8.81 Turning to the potential impacts on the SAM, this lies to the south of the site and 

part of the designation falls within the application site.  The SAM comprises 

earthworks, buried archaeological remains and machinery of coal and ironstone 

mining activities within an area worked intensively on a small scale from at least 

the 14th century.  The site of the SAM is largely within the wooded area forming 

Birch Coppice.  Part of a former tramway falls within the application site and is 

also partially wooded.   

8.82 Given the current context of the site and that visibility of the monument is limited, 

even in close proximity from within the application site, it is not considered the 

proposals would result in harm to the setting of the SAM.  Whilst the findings are 

generally accepted, it is noted that the assessment fails to realise the site 

boundary and its relationship with the tramway section of the SAM.  

Notwithstanding this, Historic England and the Conservation Officer agree with 

the findings of the Heritage Assessment. 

8.83 Given the fact that the proposals will not result in any harm to heritage assets it is 

considered that the proposals are in accordance with Policies BE4, BE6 and BE8 

and the NPPF. 

Glint and glare 

8.84 Solar farms, due to their nature, have the potential to give rise to glint and glare 

issues.  Given the close proximity of the site to the M54 and residential properties 

a Glint and Glare Assessment accompanies the application.  This has taken into 

consideration the motorway, a section of the A523 and 18 residential receptors 

adjacent to the site. 

8.85 The report concludes that there is no impact predicted on road users or dwellings 

in the surrounding area.  In all cases, any solar reflections that are geometrically 

possible will be screened by intervening terrain, existing vegetation, proposed 

vegetation and/or surrounding buildings.  Solar reflections are possible, without 

appropriate mitigation planting, at 3 Arleston Hill and 57 New Works Road.   

8.86 The Glint and Glare Assessment has been reviewed by Highways England who 

are satisfied with the findings of the report and that there would not be any 

adverse impacts on users of the strategic highway network.   

8.87 Given the low level of potential impacts arising from glint and glare, it is 

considered that the proposals would not result in significant adverse harm. 

 

Page 37



Land stability 

8.88 Policy BE9 requires development proposals to demonstrate that land stability will 

not result in impacts on the proposal.  Paragraph 184 of the NPPF states that it is 

the applicant’s responsibility to ensure they secure a safe development. 

8.89 The application is accompanied by a Coal Mining Risk Assessment.  This 

identifies that there may be a range of coal mining risks associated with 

development of the site.  However, the proposed development of a solar farm is 

considered a relatively low-risk end-use which will apply only light loads and is 

tolerable of some ongoing settlement.   

8.90 The report concludes that before the mining risks can be fully assessed it will be 

necessary to carry out pre-construction intrusive site investigation works.  This 

should confirm ground conditions and bearing characteristics of materials 

present; assess the identified settlement mechanisms; investigate any specific 

coal mining risks identified (eg mine entries or shallowing workings beneath and 

around the highwall areas); assess the contamination status of the site; and 

confirm the ground gas regime. 

8.91 A plan has been submitted overlaying the proposed development with known 

workings, pit shafts and mine entries.  Whilst some of the arrays are shown to 

align with some known mine shafts, none of the proposed associated 

infrastructure is shown to be located such sensitive positions. 

8.92 The proposals have been assessed by the Coal Authority who raise no 

objections in principle to the proposals, subject to the imposition of conditions 

any planning permission.  As such the proposals are considered to comply with 

local and national planning policies. 

Other issues 

8.93 It is noted that the application includes the extension of the existing car park and 

the provision of a viewing/picnic area.  It is also proposed to include information 

boards to enable users of the site to have a better understanding of the history of 

the site.  Whilst these proposals are welcomed in principle, they are not 

necessary as a result of the proposed solar farm and are offered as community 

benefits. 

Planning Balance 

8.94 Local and national planning policies support the development of renewable 

energy schemes, subject to there being no adverse harm arising from the 

proposals.  It is acknowledged that the Parish Council and local residents have 

raised significant concerns in respect of the proposed development and those 

concerns have been considered in this report.   

 

Page 38



8.95 The proposal would result in the loss of around 40 hectares of farmland.  This 

would be replaced by the potential to develop around 30MW of renewable energy 

for a period of 40 years.  This would be sufficient renewable energy to power the 

equivalent of more than 8,650 homes a year.  In addition, it would result in the 

displacement of around 15,000 tonne of CO2 per annum.  This would be a 

positive benefit towards helping meet the climate change agenda. 

8.96 The proposals would result in Significant or Moderately Significant adverse 

effects on the landscape character.  Impacts on views would be limited due to 

being relatively localised, however would be experienced by a large number of 

receptors using the site for recreational purposes.  Therefore, the proposals are 

considered to be contrary to the requirements of Policies ER1 and NE7.  As 

such, the benefits of the proposals are insufficient to outweigh the detrimental 

change to the quality of the landscape due to failing to conserve and enhance the 

character of the area.  Even taking into account the community benefits of the 

scheme, these are not considered sufficient to outweigh the harm arising from 

the proposals. 

8.97 There are not considered to be any detrimental harms to the setting of 

designated heritage assets, including the nearby Scheduled Ancient Monument 

located to the south of the site. 

8.98 It has not been clearly demonstrated that the proposals would not result in harm 

to biodiversity.  As such, it is not possible to conclude that the proposals would 

not cause an offence under The Conservation of Habitats and Species 

(Amendment) (EU Exit) Regulations 2019.  Therefore, it is not possible consider 

that the proposals comply with Policies ER1, NE1 and NE2.  Likewise, it has not 

been demonstrated that the proposals would not result in increased flood risk. 

8.99 Concerns regarding decommissioning are noted, but this is appropriately dealt 

with by condition and is not grounds on which to refuse the proposals. 

8.100 Overall, the harm arising from the proposals is considered to outweigh the 

benefits and it is recommended that the application be refused. 

 
9. CONCLUSIONS  

 
9.1 As set out in the Planning Balance section above, and throughout this report, the 

proposals fail to comply with the relevant national and local planning policy.  

Therefore, it is recommended the application be refused. 

 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 39



10.  Detailed recommendation  

 

Based on the conclusions above, the recommendation to the Planning Committee on 
this application is to REFUSE FULL PLANNING PERMISSION subject to the following 
reasons:  

1. The proposals would result in a detrimental change to the quality of the strategic 

landscape, failing to conserve and enhance the character of the landscape 

around the Shropshire Hills Area of Natural Beauty.  This would result in 

significant harm to the character of the area and thus impact on the enjoyment of 

the area by receptors using the local public rights of way. The proposed 

mitigation is insufficient to overcome these harms.  As such the proposals are 

contrary to Policies ER1 and NE7 of the Telford and Wrekin Local Plan (2011-

2031), paragraph 174 of the National Planning Policy Framework, and Policies 

P1 and WF1 of the Shropshire Hills AONB Management Plan (2019-2024). 

2. The application lacks detail with regards to the impacts of the proposals on 

designated sites, or the potential for Short Wood to impact on the operation of 

the solar farm due to shading.  In addition, there is insufficient information 

contained within the application in respect of great crested newts, badgers, red 

list birds (notably Skylarks) and Barn Owls.  As such, it is not possible to 

conclude that the proposals would not cause an offence under The Conservation 

of Habitats and Species (Amendment) (EU Exit) Regulations 2019.  Therefore, 

the proposals fail to comply with Policies ER1, NE1 and NE2. 

3. The proposals have failed to demonstrate that they would not result in increased 

flooding risk either on-site or off-site.  As such the proposals fail to comply with 

Policy ER12. 

 

Page 40



 (c) Crown copyright, All rights reserved. 2021. License number 0100031673

Collects

Path (um)

Short Wood

D
ra

in

144.5m

Def

Und

Def

1.22m
 RH

Orchard View

Track

AR
LE

ST
O

N
 L

AN
E

M 54

Mast

The Mount

Ward Bdy

CR

CR

(telecommunication)

Rose Villa

D
ef

Hall

171.6m

Kavacanne

143.0m

Garage

Issues

7 to 8

17 to 18

19 to 20

13 to 14

1 to 2

3 to 4
11 to 12

9 to 10

5 to 6

15 to 16

D
rain

Drain

Fairhaven

Ketley Brook Caravan Park

Track

Six Acres

5

Drain

Pond

62

FW

FW

Def

FW

U
nd

D
ef

U
nd

1.22m
 R

H

D
ef

1.22m
 R

H

FF

Und

63

4

ET
L

Stable

Silver Birches

64

60

161.5m

GP

Well
61

Lawley Furnaces

D
AW

LEY R
O

AD

3

Calderwood

Rozel

Track

Arleston Hill

Cottage

Pond

57

161.8m

58

157.0m

152.1m

Pond

159.4m

59

N
EW

 W
O

R
KS

 L
AN

E

Pond

Track Viewing Area

Car Park
Existing

Car Park
Extension

Track

Challenge House, Sherwood Drive
Milton Keynes, MK3 6DP

Site Boundary

KeyScale: 1:5000 @ A3

Site Location

New Works Solar Farm

© Crown copyright 2021. All rights reserved.
Licence number 0100031673

Date

Final July 2021
Status Dr.

JS
Ch. App.

YO JS

Page 41



This page is intentionally left blank



Short Wood

144.5m

Orchard View

Track

Rose Villa

Kavacanne

143.0m

Garage

7 to 8

17 to 18

19 to 20

13 to 14

11 to 12

9 to 10

5 to 6

15 to 16

D
rain

Drain

Fairhaven

Ketley Brook Caravan Park

Track

Six Acres

5

Drain

Pond

62

63

4

ET
L

Stable

Silver Birches

64

60

161.5m

GP

Well
61

Lawley Furnaces

D
AW

LEY R
O

AD

3

Calderwood

Rozel

Track

Arleston Hill

Cottage

Pond

57

161.8m

58

157.0m

152.1m

Pond

159.4m

59

N
EW

 W
O

R
KS

 L
AN

E

Pond

Track

1

3

2

4

5

7

6
Viewing Area

Car Park
Existing

Car Park
Extension

Track

Scale: 1:2500 @ A2

Site Layout

New Works Solar Farm

© Crown copyright 2021. All rights reserved.
Licence number 0100031673

Date

Final May 2021
Status Dr.

JS
Ch. App.

YO JS

Challenge House, Sherwood Drive
Milton Keynes, MK3 6DP

KEY

Site Boundary

Route of Permissive Path

Inverter / Transformer Station

Gates

CCTV Post

Deer Fence

Existing Footpath

Existing Restricted Byway

Car Park Extension

Viewing Area

Solar Panels

Access Track & Turning Area

Site Compound and Access

Battery Containers & Substations

Page 43



This page is intentionally left blank



9.00

3.00

0.
80

2.
90

0.
8020

°

20
°

6.00 6.00

20
°

2.
90

9.00

Ground Level

3.00

0.
80

6.00

2.
90

Ground Level

Plan Elevation

Front Elevation

Side Elevation

Ground Level

Scale:Drawing-No.

Project:

2021-4-30

Scale:

Drawing-No.

2021-4-30

New Works Solar Farm

Typical Elevations Plan 1
 - Solar Panels

2020_0001_01

1:100@A3

DRAW-NOSCALE

PROJECT_LINE_2PROJECT_LINE_1

P
age 45



T
his page is intentionally left blank



Storage Container

Approx 12m Approx 2.4m

Plan View

Side Elevation Front Elevation

A
pp

ro
x 

2.
4m

Approx 12m
Approx 2.4m

Side Elevation Front Elevation

Battery Container

Plan View

A
pp

ro
x 

2.
9m

Front Elevation Side Elevation
Approx 6.0m Approx 2.4m

Inverter / Transformer Station

A
pp

ro
x 

2.
9m

Scale:Drawing-No.

Project:

2021-4-30

Scale:

Drawing-No.

2021-4-30

New Works Solar Farm

Typical Elevations Plan 2
 - Inverter / Transformer Station
 - Battery Container
 - Storage Container

2020_0001_02

1:100@A3

DRAW-NOSCALE

PROJECT_LINE_2PROJECT_LINE_1

P
age 47



T
his page is intentionally left blank



Monitoring and Communications Cabin

3.5m

5.1m

4.5m

Front Elevation

Side Elevation

PIR Light

PIR Light

PIR Light

Rear Elevation

5.1m

4.5m

Side Elevation

Distribution Network Operator Substation

Customer Substation

Metering
room

5.3m

7.
8m

AA

PIR Light

7.8m 5.3m

4.
0m

Front Elevation

Rear Elevation

Side Elevation

Side ElevationPlan View

Customer Substation

Scale:Drawing-No.

Project:

2021-4-30

Scale:

Drawing-No.

2021-4-30

New Works Solar Farm

Typical Elevations Plan 3
 - Customer Substation
 - DNO Substation
 - Monitoring & Communications

2020_0001_03

1:100@A3

DRAW-NOSCALE

PROJECT_LINE_2PROJECT_LINE_1

P
age 49



T
his page is intentionally left blank



Deer Fence and Security Gate

2.00

Approx 5.5m Approx 3m

3.00

 CCTV Post

40mm of Type 1 aggregate

Sub soil

Approx. 3.5m

Internal Track Cross Section

300mm Type 2 subbase of crushed stone

Geotextile membranes

Scale:Drawing-No.

Project:

2021-4-30

Scale:

Drawing-No.

2021-4-30

New Works Solar Farm

Typical Elevations Plan 4
 - CCTV Post
 - Deer Fence / Security Gate
 - Access Track

2020_0001_04

1:50@A3

DRAW-NOSCALE

PROJECT_LINE_2PROJECT_LINE_1

P
age 51



T
his page is intentionally left blank



 

 

 

TWC/2021/0858  
Land adjacent 3 Davenport Drive, Admaston, Telford, Shropshire 
Erection of 1no. dwelling  

 
APPLICANT RECEIVED 
Mr & Mrs Davies 07/09/2021 
 
PARISH WARD 
Wrockwardine Admaston and Bratton 
 
DUE TO THE NATURE OF REPRESENTATIONS FROM THE PUBLIC CONTRARY TO 
OFFICER RECOMMENDATION THE SERVICE DELIVERY MANAGER FOR 
DEVELOPMENT MANAGEMENT CONSIDERS THAT THE APPLICATION SHOULD BE 
DETERMINED BY MEMBERS OF PLANNING COMMITTEE 
 
Online planning file: https://secure.telford.gov.uk/planning/pa-
applicationsummary.aspx?applicationnumber=TWC/2021/0858  
 
1.0 SUMMARY RECOMMENDATION 
 
1.1  It is recommended that DELEGATED AUTHORITY be granted to the Development 

Management Service Delivery Manager to GRANT PLANNING PERMISSION 
subject to conditions and informatives.  

 
2.0  SITE AND SURROUNDINGS 
 
2.1 The application site is in the location of Admaston, within the built up area of Telford. 

The application site consists of a privately owned area of incidental open space at 
the end of a cul-de-sac known as Davenport Drive. The application land which is 
located beyond a turning head serving the road is located between a double garage 
belonging to the application host dwelling, No.3 Davenport Drive and Silkin Way 
(PROW). 

 
2.2 The application site is laid out as grass and is enclosed to the Davenport Road side 

by a low level picket fence. The northern edge of the site is fronted by mixed 
hedgerow and vegetation whist the southern boundary also includes a mix of 
hedgerow and trees. The boundary along the Silkin Way to the west mainly consists 
of closely planted trees. There are views through the tree line to the right of way.  

 
2.3 It is noted that similar plots of land to the north have enclosed similar private owned 

green spaces with hedgerow.  
 
2.4 The majority of the application site is allocated as Green Network with the Telford & 

Wrekin Local Plan. There are no TPO’s within the vicinity of the site or other formal 
designations.  

 
2.5 Davenport Drive consists of mainly detached dwellings of a similar scale to each 

other. These are gable ended dwellings of modern design, constructed with a mix of 
red brick and render and provide integral garages. The host dwelling No.3 is unusual 
in this respect, designed with hipped roof construction with prominent two storey bay 
and a lighter brick colour. The frontage of this dwelling is west facing and as such 
faces the application site and the detached garage serving the property. 

 

Page 53

Agenda Item 6b

https://secure.telford.gov.uk/planning/pa-applicationsummary.aspx?applicationnumber=TWC/2021/0858
https://secure.telford.gov.uk/planning/pa-applicationsummary.aspx?applicationnumber=TWC/2021/0858


 

 

 

2.6 No.18 and 20 Davenport sit directly opposite the application site. No.20 is largely 
hidden from view when standing on the main highway due to its set back position, 
screened by No.18. No.20 is served via a driveway which extends off the turning 
head. 

 
3.0 APPLICATION DETAILS 
 
3.1 This application follows the withdrawal of a previous application (TWC/2021/0379) 

seeking a similar proposal for a single dwelling. Following concerns raised by officers 
and noting objections, including those from the Ward Member in regards to impact 
upon the Green Network and the design of the dwelling, the applicants withdrew the 
application to enable further consideration of these points.  

 
3.2 The current application consists of proposals for a single, two storey dwelling house 

with integral garage, associated parking and landscaping.  
 
3.3 The application is supported with a full planning pack which in addition to proposed 

plans includes the following supporting information: 
 

- Design and Access Statement 
- Green Network Statement 
- Ecology Appraisal 
- Tree Report 

 
4.0 RELEVANT POLICY DOCUMENTS 
 
4.1  National Guidance: 
 

National Planning Policy Framework (NPPF) 
 
4.2  Local Development Plan: 
 

Telford & Wrekin Local Plan 
 
5.0  SUMMARY OF CONSULTATION RESPONSES 
 
Local Member and Town/Parish Council Responses:  
 
5.01 Wrockwardine Parish Council: Object: 
 

The Parish Council raise the following planning objections: 
 

Wrockwardine Parish Council objects to this application on the grounds that it is in an 
area that is not designated as an area for development as set out under section HO 
10 of Telford & Wrekin Council's Local Plan 2011 - 2031. The Council does not see a 
necessity for further residential development in this rural area. Furthermore, the 
Parish Council commented that it is concerned that the locality of the development, 
together with other larger developments in the area, including the new doctor's 
surgery, will cause increased vehicle activity along the already busy roads in the 
Parish. 
 
 
 

 

Page 54

https://secure.telford.gov.uk/planning/pa-applicationsummary.aspx?ApplicationNumber=TWC/2021/0379


 

 

 

5.1 Cllr Jacqui Seymour (Neighbouring Ward Member) – Object on the following 
grounds: 

 
 Loss of Green Network creating a buffer to Silkin Way 
Standard Consultation Responses 
 
5.2 Highways: Support subject to Conditions 
 
5.3 Ecology: Support subject to Conditions 
 
5.4 Fire Safety Officer – Shropshire Fire Service: Standard Informative 
 
5.5  SUMMARY OF PUBLIC RESPONSE 
 
Objections 
 
5.6 24 objections have been received in respect of this application. 
 
5.7 The majority of the objections received raise concerns about the impact upon Silkin 

Way, the character of the end of the cul-de-sac and the loss of a green buffer.  
 
5.8 Other concerns raised include impact upon wildlife, impact upon traffic and 

inadequate parking arrangements. Impact upon residential amenity (loss of privacy) 
is also raised as a concern.  

 
5.9 In addition, photographs have been provided showing existing parking and historic 

photos indicating that the land once contained a number of trees.  
 
Support 
 
5.10 9 comments have also been received in support of the application.  
 
5.11 Comments received support that the revised application has addressed ecology 

issues including enhancements and suggest that there would be no adverse impact 
upon Silkin Way. Comments also suggest that the proposed dwelling would be in 
keeping with other properties in the location.  

5.12 Full copies of consultation responses are available on the Council’s planning online 
website: https://secure.telford.gov.uk/planning/pa-
applicationsummary.aspx?ApplicationNumber=TWC/2021/0858 

 
 
6.0  PLANNING CONSIDERATIONS 
 
6.1 Having regard to the Development Plan Policy and other Material Considerations 

including comments received during the consultation process, the planning 
application raises the following main issues: 

 
 -  Principle of Development 
 - Impact upon Green Network and Ecology  

- Scale and Appearance 
- Highway Implications  
- Drainage 
- Impact upon Neighbouring Amenity 

  
 

Page 55



 

 

 

6.2 Principle of Development 
  
6.3 In accordance with national planning policy guidance, applications that accord with 

an up to date development should be supported without delay unless material 
planning considerations indicate otherwise. In line with National policy, the Local Plan 
has a presumption in favour of sustainable development (Policy SP4). Development 
is considered sustainable where it is in accordance with national and Local Plan 
polices, taking into account other material considerations. These considerations will 
be addressed within this report.  

 
6.4 The application site sits in the built up area where residential development is 

supported in accordance with Telford & Wrekin Local Plan Policy SP1. This indicates 
that Telford will be the principal focus for growth to meet the borough’s housing and 
employment development during the plan period and supports the delivery of 
approximately 14,950 net new homes up to 2031. It is noted that some residents 
raise objections on grounds that there are other major developments providing 
housing nearby and as such, further housing is not required. However, the 
requirements for the supply of housing also includes windfall sites and as such, 
providing all other policy reasons are addressed, this is not a reason to refuse an 
application. 

 
6.5 The comments raised by Wrockwardine Parish Council are noted, however it 

appears the Parish have incorrectly considered the proposal to be within the rural 
area as defined by the Local Plan map in which policy HO10 (residential 
development in the rural area) would normally apply. The application site is located 
within the built up area of Telford and therefore rural area polices are not relevant in 
this instance.  

 
6.6 Green Network and Ecology 
 
6.7 The application site is located within land allocated as Green Network (GN) within the 

Local Plan. Policy NE6 (Green Network) of the plan is specific in that it seeks to 
protect, maintain, enhance and where possible extend the Green Network. The policy 
goes on to indicate that the Council will only support new development within Green 
Network where it identifies, protects and enhances the network and its functions.  

 
6.8 The policy also recognises however that there may be harm caused to the Green 

Network in which case, new development will need to demonstrate that the benefits 
of the development outweigh any adverse impacts upon it and its functions.   

 
6.9 The applicants were notified by Officers during the first application that no attempt 

had been made in their application to either identify the green network or present a 
scheme that provided benefits to its functions. Without doubt, the proposal has 
adverse impacts due to it being located within the Green Network and therefore, the 
applicant must demonstrate that it is possible to suitably mitigate this harm.  

 
6.10 In providing a balanced assessment of the proposals put forward, Officers have 

considered which Green Network functions apply to this particular site. There are 6 
functions in total listed within the local plan. Some areas of Green Network may 
provide several functions whilst some may only fulfil one or even part of the functions 
listed. Equally, different weight may be given to the different functions a site provides 
depending on the actual benefits it provides.  

 
 The 6 functions are as follows: 
 

Page 56



 

 

 

1. To provide significant visual amenity value in the form of extensive views over 
green open areas, water bodies or woodland; 
2. To provide separation between built up areas by significant open green areas, 
water bodies or woodland which help to retain and enhance the individual identity of 
local communities; 
3. To provide an appropriate supply of open land to meet the diverse recreational 
needs of an expanding population, combining the more formal parkland and 
recreation areas with wider landscaped areas valuable for informal recreation; 
4. To maintain, protect and enhance the borough’s ecological value in terms of 
natural habitats and species by providing ecological networks, corridors and stepping 
stones by which wildlife can move through, and thrive within, urban environments; 
5. To maintain, protect and enhance the unique geological and archaeological 
features within the borough as a legacy of its early place in the Industrial Revolution; 
6. To provide open space linkages through which footpath, cycleways and ecological 
corridors can connect different parts of Telford or Newport forming accessible ‘green 
ways’ through urban areas. 

 
6.11 The land itself is privately owned open space and as such, there is no right of access 

over the land itself or direct access to the right of way. The land is laid out as grass 
and whilst I note that trees have been historically removed, Officers must consider 
the site on its current value. None of the trees within the site previously were 
protected and as they are within private land, the land owner at the time was able to 
remove them without the need for consent. The site does however form part of a 
visual separation between built up areas in conjunction with the Silkin Way which in 
part links to functions 2 and 6. However whilst Silkin Way performs this open space 
linkage, the application site sits outside this route and would not have any direct 
impact upon the right of way itself.  

 
6.12 In response to the Green Network, the applicant has submitted a Green Network 

Statement which has also considered the functions of the site. It is recognised that 
despite not meeting in full any of the main functions, there would remain harm 
through the building upon GN land.  

 
6.13 The application therefore provides the following mitigation: 
 Bird and Bat Boxes 

Planting of new native hedgerow in addition to providing additional saplings to 
existing hedgerow.  

 Bee Bricks 
 Hedgehog Highways and hedgehog house 
 No gas supply (mains electric only) 
 Solar Voltaic panels in south roof elevation 
 Air source heat pump 
 Aluminium windows/doors 
 Car charging point 
 
6.14 In addition to taking into account these proposed features, comments received from 

the Councils Ecology and Green Infrastructure Specialist have also been considered. 
These comments accept that in this instance, the Green Network is mapped as only 
providing biodiversity value and that this is low. Comments suggest that the 
enhancements proposed are sufficient to satisfy the policy requirements of policy 
NE6.  

 
6.15 Significant weight must be given to these comments and whilst the level of objections 

to the loss of this space to a dwelling are noted, officers consider that given the level 
of mitigation proposed, there will in fact be an enhancement to the biodiversity value 

Page 57



 

 

 

of this particular plot of land. Furthermore, the additional sustainable credentials of 
the dwelling provide additional benefits that must be considered in favour of the 
application. For this reason, on balance it is considered that there is no sufficient 
reason to refuse that application on grounds of impact upon the Green Network.  

 
6.16 Suitably worded conditions will ensure compliance with the proposed landscaping 

scheme and provision of the proposed eco-friendly features on the dwelling. A 
condition will also be attached ensuring that the development is carried out in 
accordance with submitted Ecology Appraisal.  

 
6.17 In conclusion of the above, the development complies with policy NE6 of the plan, in 

addition to polices NE1 and NE2. 
 
6.18  Scale and Appearance  
 
6.19 The submission of this revised application has been guided by pre-application advice 

to ensure that the scale and design of the development does not have an adverse 
impact upon the street scene. Officers are satisfied that the applicant has taken into 
account the advice provided and submitted a scheme that respects and responds 
positively to its context. In particular, the scale of the dwelling now responds to 
neighbouring units in terms of overall footprint and uses design features seen on 
nearby dwellings (roof design and mix of brick and render).  

 
6.20 In terms of the siting of the dwelling, officers note that the dwelling would be located 

in a prominent position at the end of the cul-de-sac and will affect views towards the 
tree lined Silkin Way. This would be to the left hand side when directly looking to the 
end of the road and direct views would remain open.  The dwelling does not step out 
beyond any existing building line, and a minimum of 21m between dwelling frontages 
is provided. As such, it is considered that there would be no adverse harm to the 
character of the road in this instance. 

 
6.21 Concerns have been raised in respect of the distance of the new dwelling to Silkin 

Way and the impact upon views of people using this route. The new dwelling would 
sit approximately between 13m and 15m from the footpath itself due to the angle of 
the house to the route. This compares to approximately 21m for No.20 opposite. It is 
noted, that distance to the footpath from dwellings varies along its route and in some 
cases houses are more visible that others depending on trees and vegetation. Some 
dwellings have boundary fences that back onto the route. The closest dwelling 
appears to be 24 Whiteway Drive on the opposite side of the route and is 
approximately 11m from the path itself. The new dwelling will no doubt be visible 
from the footpath, however officers are satisfied that a satisfactory distance is 
maintained to the extent it will not appear overbearing, when also accounting for 
trees and vegetation. There are no sufficient grounds to warrant refusal in this 
respect.  

 
6.22 The proposal is therefore compliant with policy BE1 of the Telford & Wrekin Local 

Plan.  
 
Highway Implications  
 
6.23 The Council’s Highways Officer has commented on the proposal and has raised no 

objections. It is noted that the access arrangements have been amended since the 
previous application to take account of comments made by Highways at the time. 
This ensures safe access into the site whilst continuing to allow adequate parking for 
the proposed dwelling and the host dwelling No.3.   

Page 58



 

 

 

6.24 Concerns raised in respect of the impact upon highways from nearby residents are 
noted. The addition of a single dwelling would not have any adverse impact upon 
highway capacity in the road or the surrounding area. Furthermore, despite photos 
submitted by a neighbouring resident indicating several cars parked on the driveway 
for No.3 and a vehicle parked in the turning head of No.18 and 20, Officers do not 
consider that there would be any harm resulting from the development in this 
instance. The development proposed clearly demonstrates adequate off road 
parking, and an integral garage. There is space within the parking area to allow 
turning ensuring vehicles can exit in forward gear.  

 
6.25 Officers consider that given the nature of the road, a construction management plan 

should be submitted in accordance with a suitably worded condition. This will 
stipulate hours of operation and on site storage of materials during works. It is 
acknowledged that whilst there may be some displacement of existing parking 
arrangements for the host dwelling during construction, parking on the highway is 
unrestricted and as such this should be done in accordance with normal highway 
laws. This is separate legislation from planning and if issues arise it would be a 
consideration for the relevant service, such as the police to deal with if required.  

 
6.26 Based upon the above it is considered that the proposed development complies with 

policy C5 of the Local Plan.  
 
6.27 Drainage 
  
6.28 In order to ensure the site is suitably drained conditions will be attached requiring 

further details of foul and surface water drainage for the development. This will 
include the need for soakaway tests to be carried out to ensure sustainable drainage 
systems can be provided. If soakaways are not suitable, then an alternative method 
of surface water drainage will need to be submitted.  

 
6.29 Impact upon neighbouring amenity 
 
6.30 Officers note concerns raised in respect of impact upon residential amenity and in 

particular loss of privacy. The proposed dwelling achieves a minimum 21m between 
building frontages (window to window) which is a satisfactory distance to ensure no 
adverse loss of privacy between dwellings. The proposed dwelling is located a good 
distance from other dwellings and as such would also not cause any adverse loss of 
light to neighbouring occupiers. 

6.31 Officers understand concerns that builders will be on site for a short period of time, 
however this is not unusual and will be limited in terms of impact. There are no 
grounds for refusal in this respect.   

 
6.32 As such, the development demonstrates that there would be no significant adverse 

impact on nearby properties by noise, dust, odour or light, therefore according with 
policy BE1. 

 
7.0  CONCLUSION 
 
7.1 The Local Planning Authority have taken all matters into account in order to decide 

whether the proposed application is acceptable in planning terms and in doing so has 
balanced the partial loss of an area of green network with the benefits of the 
proposed dwelling, its sustainable credentials and improvements to biodiversity. In 
doing so it has considered the comments raised by the Council’s Ecology Officer who 
has indicated that the benefits proposed by this development ensure compliance with 
policy NE6 of the Local Plan.  

Page 59



 

 

 

7.2 Officers have considered the visual impact of the development both upon the street 
scene and upon views from Silkin Way and conclude that there would not be 
sufficient harm upon the character of the area to warrant refusal of the application.  

 
7.3 The proposal provides sufficient parking and turning and technical matters for 

drainage can be dealt with via condition.  
 
7.4 Overall, the proposed dwelling is an acceptable form of development that complies 

with the relevant policies contained within the local plan and in accordance with 
national policy should be approved.  

 
8.0  RECOMMENDATION  
 
8.1 Based on the conclusions above, the recommendation to the Planning Committee on 

this application is that DELEGATED AUTHORITY be granted to the Development 
Management Service Delivery Manager to GRANT PLANNING PERMISSION 
subject to the following: 

 
A.  The Following Conditions: 
 

1. Time Limit – Full 
2. Details of Materials (bricks, roof tiles, render) 
3. Drainage Condition for Foul and Surface Water 
4. Landscaping Conditions – Landscape design (planting schedules, in 

accordance with approved plans) 
5. Ecology Lighting Plan 
6. Ecology – Work in accordance with Ecology Appraisal 
7. Ecology Bird and bat box details 
8. Site Construction Management Plan 
9. Tree Protection Implementation  
10. Development in accordance with plans 
11. Solar panels/Ground Source Heat Pump/Electric Car Charging Point – 

Available prior to occupation 
12. Removal of residential PD 

 
 
 

 
 

Page 60



P
age 61



T
his page is intentionally left blank



P
age 63



T
his page is intentionally left blank



P
age 65



T
his page is intentionally left blank



Reference Drawn by Date

Sheet

CMT 30/07/21

3 Davenport Drive, Amaston, Telford, TF5 0DY -Overview

Scale

1:100 @ A3

FUTURE ARBOR
41 Hawthorn Road, Shrewsbury, Shropshire, SY3 7NB  (07866 266 655)

Mixed native 
hedge

Self binding gravel

Proposed house

Lawn

Pergola, exact size and location 
to be determined at a later stage

Existing hedge to north boundary

Wild flower 
meadow mix

Native planting bed 1

Native planting 
bed 2

Schweglar 1b bird box,
to face NE

Schweglar 1ZA Roundhouse 
wren box, to face NE

Bat box (B & C) as per
ecological survey

Bee brick to be positioned 
at least 1m above the ground

Do not scale from this drawing

Sparrow terrace

Vectorworks Educational Version

Vectorworks Educational Version

P
age 67

Rectangle

Rectangle

Line



T
his page is intentionally left blank


	Agenda
	3 Minutes of the Previous Meeting
	6 Planning Applications for Determination
	6a TWC/2021/0737 - Land west of New Works Lane, Telford
	1. Location plan
	Sheets and Views
	Rev31_20210722_JS-Site Layout 2500@A2


	2. Site Layout Plan
	Sheets and Views
	Rev30_20210524 Layout-Site Layout 2500@A2 (2)


	3. Typical Elevations Plan 1 - Solar Panels
	Sheets and Views
	All Elevations-Layout1


	4. Typical Elevations Plan 2 - Inverter-Transformer Station, battery Container and Storage Container
	Sheets and Views
	All Elevations-Layout2


	5. Typical Elevations Plan 3 - Customer substation, DNO Substation and monitoring and communications cabin
	Sheets and Views
	All Elevations-Layout3


	6. Typical Elevations Plan 4 - CCTV post, deer fence-security gate and access track
	Sheets and Views
	All Elevations-Layout4



	6b TWC/2021/0858 - Land adj 3 Davenport Drive, Admaston, Telford, Shropshire
	1. Location and Existing Block Plan
	2. Block Plan
	3. Proposed Elevations
	4. Proposed Landscaping Plan
	Sht-1 [Overview]
	Viewport-2




